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chapter one: United States History Before columbus 

1.1 IntrODUCtIOn 
The history of the country that will eventually come to be called the 

United States begins long before the birth of the nation. Native Americans 
first inhabited the North American continent some 14,000 years ago, if 
not earlier. This earliest era is known as the Paleo-Indian era; it is closely 
identified with one of the most famous archaeological artifacts in the 
Americas, the Clovis point, which was used to hunt megafauna, the giant 
animals of the Pleistocene era, such as mammoth or mastodon. The eras 
following, the Archaic and Woodland, were marked by the development of 
plant domestication and incipient agriculture, one of the most important 
developments in human history. Two of the earliest centers for plant 
domestication were in Mesoamerica and the modern-day Southeastern 
United States. Finally, the period just before European contact is 
characterized by the development of many rich and diverse cultures. In the 
region that was to become the United States, there were some 500 groups, 
each with its own language, culture, and religion. 

1.1.2 learning Outcomes 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to: 
• Explain the various interpretations, scientific and religious, of the origins of 

indigenous peoples in the New World. 
• Describe the political, cultural, and social differences between the major eras of 

the prehistoric United States. 
• Describe the political, cultural, and social differences between the groups of the 

major regions of the prehistoric United States. 
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religious rituals, exchange news, and trade women to ensure genetic 
diversity amongst their groups. 

Everything that we know about humans in the Americas from these early 
eras comes from the archaeological record. Perhaps the most famous Paleo-
Indian site is the Blackwater Draw site near Clovis, New Mexico. Blackwater 
Draw is the archaeological site where the large, leaf-shaped Clovis points 
were first identified. As many Clovis period sites were excavated in the mid-
twentieth century, Clovis points came to be one of the defining artifacts for 
the Paleo-Indian era in North America, and anthropologists came to regard 
the Clovis culture as the first firmly established proof of human presence 
in the Americas. The “Clovis First” hypothesis held sway throughout much 
of the rest of the century, calling archaeological evidence that dated older 
than about 10,000 BCE unreliable. However, as more and more sites have 
produced reliable older dates and the coastal migration theory became more 
widely accepted, the Clovis First movement has lost favor. 

One of the sites that first seriously challenged the Clovis First idea was the 
Monte Verde site in Chile, which consistently produced well-documented 
dates at and around 14,800-13,800 BP (12,800-11,800 BCE). Archaeological 
remains at this site include the evidence of wood and hide shelters, clay-
lined fire pits, and dozens of plant materials used in the Paleo-Indian diet, 
a use supported by the appearance of coprolites, or fossilized human feces. 
Perhaps the most fascinating artifact from the Monte Verde site is a child’s 
footprint, preserved in the soft clay surrounding a fire pit. 

The Vero Man site, located outside of Vero Beach, Florida, is one of 
the few sites where human bones have been found alongside megafauna 
bones, including bison, mastodon, giant sloth, dire wolf, llama, and camel. 
More gracile, modern animals such as deer remains were also unearthed 
at the Vero Man site. The site dates roughly around 12,000-14,000 BP. 
In 2009, a bone with a carving of a mammoth on it was found; testing 
dates the bone to sometime between 13,000-20,000 BP. This artifact 
probably represents the oldest artwork ever found in the Americas. 

1.3.1 The Archaic and Woodland Periods 

From 8,000-7,000 BCE, the Earth’s climate began to warm, and the 
North American environment changed. Paleo-Indians adapted to the world 
around them, learning to rely more and more on a diet rich in plant materials, 
and hunting smaller game such as bison as the megafauna began to die out. 
In this way, they began to more closely resemble typical hunter/gatherers, 
whose diet relies up to 90 percent on gathered food rather than on meat. 
Over the next 6,000-7,000 years, native cultures developed and diversified 
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matrilineal descent patterns. In matrilineal descent, familial relations focus 
on the mother’s family, with property, status, and clan affiliation being 
conferred through the female line. A person’s most important relations 
were his mother’s parents and siblings. The father’s relations were relatively 
unimportant. Boys looked to their mother’s brother as an important male 
figure rather than to their father, and uncles passed political power and 
possessions to their nephews and maternal relatives rather than to their 
sons. This system’s main advantage is that descent and clan affiliation 
was beyond a doubt; a child’s paternity can be uncertain, but a clan can 
be sure of a child’s maternity. Matrilineality is relatively common among 
indigenous peoples of North America, and came to be commonplace among 
Southeastern peoples. 

The religion of the Mississippians is known as the Southeastern 
Ceremonial Complex. Important religious symbols for the culture included 
a snake (sometimes depicted as a horned serpent), a cross in circle motif, 
and Birdman, a warrior/falcon hybrid. These symbols were closely related 
to not only cosmology, but also the elite and warriors, giving the religion a 
socio-political aspect that reinforced the social status and authority of the 
elite—including the high chieftain, his lesser chiefs, and the priests of the 
cult. These symbols, along with a host of others, appeared multitudinously 
on a variety of artifacts such as cups and shell gorgets, a type of pendant. 
Archaeological evidence strongly indicates that only the elite were able to 
possess these objects, which may have been sacred and therefore viewed 
as powerful. Additionally, evidence suggests an exchange network of these 
sacred objects existed among the elite of the Mississippians, fostering not 
only political alliances, but also trade. Objects inscribed with symbols 
associated with the Southeastern Ceremonial Complex may have been 
produced by only a handful of artists; excavation of sites in Missouri and 
Oklahoma have turned up artifacts so similar that some archaeologists 
believe the same artist produced them. These sacred objects were buried as 
grave goods with their owners, indicating the status and power they carried 
into the afterlife. 

One key feature of the Mississippian culture was that they were mound 
builders. They produced thousands of earthworks used in a variety of 
manners. Some earthworks were burial mounds for the elite. The chief, 
his family, and perhaps other members of the elite lived atop some of the 
mounds. Finally, some of the largest mounds appear to have been centers of 
worship. The largest and most important towns of the chiefdoms contained 
the greatest number of mounds. 

Some of these chiefdoms produced large and complex settlements that 
rivaled and surpassed contemporary European cities. The largest and most 
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important of these was Cahokia (ca 600-1400 CE) in southwestern Illinois, 
located just across the Mississippi River from St. Louis, Missouri. Cahokia 
was a walled complex made up of 120 mounds that housed perhaps as 
many as 30,000 people, making it a very large city for its day. Community 
plazas were located throughout the complex. A woodhenge was built for 
astrological observations; poles in the henge were marked to indicate the 
sun’s rising point on the solstices and equinoxes. Cahokia’s mounds took 
tremendous effort to build; laborers moved about 55 million cubic feet 
of earth in construction. The largest of the mounds, today called Monk’s 
Mound, is approximately ten stories high and covers an area of 13.8 acres 
at the base. The top of the mound, the focal point of the city, housed a 
huge structure that may either have been a temple or the residence of the 
paramount chief of the Cahokia chiefdom. 

Cahokia came to power in part because of its location near the confluence 
of the Mississippi, Illinois, and Missouri Rivers. This confluence allowed 
the chiefdom to control much of the regional trade, giving them access to 
a great variety of trade items from many regions. Cahokia participated in 
trade networks stretching as far as the Great Lakes to the north and the Gulf 
Coast to the south. Cahokia began to decline around 1300 CE and slowly 
dwindled in size and importance. Scholars have speculated that overhunting, 
deforestation, and the rise of the Moundville center in Alabama contributed 
to Cahokia’s demise. 

1.3.3 The Anasazi 

Like the Mississippians, peoples of the southwestern region were 
also generally agriculturalists, supporting themselves by growing the 
Mesoamerican triad. One of the earliest Southwest groups was the Anasazi, 
who emerged in the Four Corners area of the modern United States 
(Colorado, Utah, Arizona, and New Mexico) around 700-1300 CE. They are 
also known as Ancient Puebloans because they are ancestors of the modern 
Pueblo peoples. The Anasazi grew and stored corn, a practice leading them 
to build large, complex, and beautiful towns. 

These towns were carefully planned communities that provided for the 
changing needs of the society over time. Anasazi towns, such as the Pueblo 
Bonito site, were often organized around large, open plazas allowing for 
community gatherings. Structures were large and multi-storied apartment-
like buildings that housed many people and provided a lot of room for storing 
their yearly harvest. The Ancient Puebloans later built similar structures 
high on canyon walls or atop mesas and became “cliff dwellers” to protect 
the population from nomadic raiding groups. Houses were often accessible 
only by ladder or rope so their inhabitants could easily cut off access. 
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Another important structure found at all Ancient Puebloan sites is the 
kiva, the ceremonial center of the village. Kivas, often circular in shape, were 
dug into the earth and entered from the roof via a ladder. At the center of 
the kiva lay a small hole in the floor called a sipapu. Modern Pueblo peoples 
hold that the sipapu symbolizes the navel of the Earth, the place where the 
ancestors first emerged. Much of what we know about Anasazi religion 
derives from modern Pueblo peoples, such as the Hopi and Zuni. 

In modern Pueblo societies, kivas are associated with the kachina belief 
system. Kachinas are spirit beings, representations of the life force within 
all parts of the universe. They may represent a specific place or some aspect 
of nature: the sun, squash, and animals such as eagle or mountain lion. 
They may also represent an ancestor (or many ancestors), a historical event, 
or an idea, such as maidenhood. Kachinas are not worshipped, per se, but 
are spiritual forces that can use their power to benefit the population. 
The kachina cult was widespread in the Southwest. Religious ceremonies 
focused on venerating the kachina. Members of religious societies dressed 
as some of the more than 400 different kachina, enacting the spiritual being 
for ritual purposes. Some of the ceremonies took place inside the kiva, some 
outside in the plaza. Kivas were also put to secular use as gathering places 
for the community’s men and probably houses for visitors to the community, 
such as traders. 

Trade with outlying areas and other peoples through trade networks was 
central to the Anasazi economy. A large system of roads stretching some 
180 miles into the countryside linked the Ancient Puebloan towns and 
connected the culture to the larger regional economy. Artifacts found at 
sites like Pueblo Bonito show that the Anasazi possessed many luxury items 
not found in their native southwest, including macaw feathers and obsidian 
from Mexico and marine shell from the Gulf Coast. Analysis of wood from 
the structures also attests to the economic importance of the road, as much 
of the timber originated at areas quite a distance from the Anasazis. 

However, some modern Pueblo peoples, as well as some archaeologists, 
suggest that the roads also had religious significance for the Ancient 
Puebloans, as many roads seem to lead to areas of religious significance, 
such as lakes, mountains, and streams. Some of the major roads, like 
the Great North Road, were oriented along a north/south axis. This fact, 
combined with the north/south orientation of many of the kiva and religious 
structures, suggests a pattern of astrological observances. The Modern 
Pueblo also speak of the North Road as being the way to the sipapu, the 
place where the ancestors originated. 

No clear reason suggests why the Ancient Puebloan cultures ended. Over 
the period from around 1150-1300 CE, the Ancient Puebloans underwent 



Page | 16 

  ChaP tEr OnE: UnItED StatES hIStOry BEfOrE COlUmBUS 

key Concepts 
The earliest period, from the time that humans entered the Americas 

until about 8,000 BCE, is known as the Paleo-Indian period. During 
this time, humans spread throughout the Western hemisphere, 
supporting themselves as nomadic hunter/gatherers. Native cultures 
developed and diversified during the Archaic (8,000-1,000 BCE) and 
the Woodland periods (1,000 BCE -1,000 CE). During this era, the 
peoples of the Americas also began to domesticate plants, leading to 
one of the most important events in human history: the development 
of agriculture, known as the agricultural revolution. Mesoamerica 
became one of the sites of early plant domestication: corn, beans, and 
squash, known as the Mesoamerican Triad, became the basis of many 
agriculturalists’ diets. 

The future Southeastern United States was another early site. 
Important domesticates from the region included marshelder, 
chenopod, squash, and sunflower. This development fostered the 
growth of a large, long-lasting, and influential culture, the Mississippian 
chiefdom (ca. 500-1400 CE), one of the most important in the region. 
The Mississippians produced thousands of earthworks used in a variety 
of manners, some as burial mounds, others as Mississippian religious 
centers, known as the Southeastern Ceremonial Complex. 

Many of the peoples of the American Southwest were also 
agriculturalists. One of the earliest Southwestern groups was the 
Anasazi, who emerged in the Four Corners area of the modern 

1.3.4 Before You Move On... 
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several changes and ultimately abandoned many of their towns. A variety 
of factors probably contributed to this abandonment. The period was 
one of dramatic climatic change for North America, the most prominent 
being the 300 year long Great Drought. During this period, the Anasazi 
appear to become more insular, engaging in less trade and practicing more 
intensive agriculture, aided by new irrigation techniques. Archaeological 
evidence indicates that new peoples were moving into the area, comprising 
an additional pressure. Finally, religious turmoil seems to have occurred 
amongst the Ancient Puebloans during this period, as many of the kiva 
and ceremonial structures at several sites evidence deliberately set fires 
and boarded up windows and doors. By 1300 CE, many of the towns and 
villages had been abandoned. While early historians held that the Anasazi 
“vanished,” modern Pueblo peoples asserted that the Anasazi in fact 
migrated further south and joined groups that became the modern Pueblo 
cultures such as the Hopi and Zuni. Archaeological evidence has verified 
this account. 
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1.4 thE PrE-COntaCt Era (1000-1492 CE) 
In the period before European contact, more than 500 identifiable 

groups emerged in North America. A tremendous amount of diversity 
existed amongst these groups; the people of the West Coast had very little 
in common with the way that the peoples of the Southwest lived. However, 
groups within each region tended to have more commonalities. For instance, 
each region of the continent could be typified by the way in which peoples 
supported themselves, that is, their subsistence strategies. Other similarities 
might include kinship relations, political structure, and material culture, 
the objects and artifacts utilized by a people and having social significance 
to them. 

1.4.1 The West Coast: The Pacific Northwest and California 

Peoples in the Pacific Northeast supported themselves largely through 
hunting, gathering, and fishing, relying most heavily on salmon fishing. 
Consequently, the salmon became an important figure in the cosmology of 
groups like the Tlingit and Haida. The Pacific Northwest region was densely 
populated and culturally diverse because of the rich natural resources that 
allowed for a high “carrying capacity” of the land: that is, relatively reliable 
and plentiful food sources translated into a large population. Most groups 
lived in large, permanent towns in the winter. These towns formed the basis 
of the political structure for many Northwestern groups. People identified 
themselves by their town, and towns organized themselves into larger 
cultural and political groups through family and political alliances. Each 
town was led by a secular leader from one of the town’s important clans. 
Clans are groups of families that recognize a common ancestor and a greater 
familial relationship amongst the group. Clans were often identified by a 
symbolic figure or idea important to the region. In the Pacific Northwest, for 
instance, clans were named for important animals such as raven, salmon, 
eagle, and killer whale. Society in Pacific Northwest groups was generally 
highly stratified in a complex system of hierarchy that ranked individuals, 
families, clans, and towns. 

One of the most important ceremonies of the Pacific Northwest groups 
was the potlatch, a socio-political ceremony that gathered towns together to 
celebrate important events. Potlatches functioned as a demonstration of the 
host’s status and importance. The hosts worked hard to ensure that all of 
the attendees were fed well, received gifts, and entertained; the hosts spent 
much of their wealth in demonstrating that they were deserving of their 
rank and societal status. In the Pacific Northwest, wealth was determined 
by how much individuals shared and gave away, not how much wealth they 
possessed. A successful potlatch could confer greater status on a person or 
a family. 
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One of the most diverse regions of North America was the region that came 
to be California. Politically, groups were divided into tribes led by chiefs 
whose title was passed down through families and clans. Economically, 
California peoples participated in large trade networks that linked much 
of the region and beyond. In general, they were hunter/gatherers. Acorns 
were a dietary staple, nutritious and able to be stored for long periods of 
time. However, they were a very labor-intensive crop, as they had to be 
pounded into flour and cooked in order to be edible. Agriculture was not 
completely unknown on the west coast; many groups cultivated tobacco 
as their sole agricultural crop. Contrary to popular opinion, the switch 
from hunter/gather to agriculturalist is not a measurement of “progress;” 
plentiful evidence suggests that hunter/gatherers often were able to live 
in semi-sedentary villages, complex societies, with even a better diet than 
agriculturalists. Religiously, the many of the peoples of Northern California 
participated in Kuksu, a religion that revolved around a male secret society 
that regulated the people’s relationship with the sacred. The primary goal of 
this society and religion was to re-create the original, sacred, pure state of 
the world, in other words, to renew the world. 

1.4.2 The Plains 

Some of the earliest peoples of the Midwest/Great Plains region 
were agriculturalists, settling in the south and central areas. However, 
the reintroduction of the horse to North America at European contact 
transformed Plains life (the ancestor of modern horses was found 
throughout much of North America in the Pleistocene era, but died out and 
disappeared from the continent). Groups quickly adopted use of the horse 
in following and hunting the great bison herds, and many groups, such as 
the Sioux, comprising the Dakota, Lakota, and Nakota, were transformed 
from farmers to nomadic hunter/gatherers and emerged as one of the most 
important groups in the northern Plains region. Other important groups 
include the Crow in the north, the Cheyenne, Pawnee and Arapaho in the 
central plains area, and the Comanche in the south. 

Warfare was endemic on the Plains. War was waged for three main 
reasons: for prestige, for obtaining goods, and for vengeance. The strategy 
and tactics of Plains warfare revolved around the concept of counting coup. 
Coup was an action that demonstrated bravery and skill. The most highly 
valued coup was to touch a live enemy and live to tell about it. Killing an 
enemy was coup, too, but demonstrated valor to a lesser degree; after all, the 
live man is still a threat, while a dead one can do you no harm. Touching a 
dead enemy was also a lesser form of coup. After a battle, warriors returned 
to the settlement to recount their stories, or “count coup.” Demonstrations 
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of skill also conferred honor to the warrior; a successful horse raid from a 
rival group, for example, showed great skill and bravery. 

Politically, Plains groups were led by chiefs and councils. Most groups 
had a war and a peace chief. Peace chiefs held more power and tended to be 
older men with more experience. The war chiefs tended to be younger men. 
In this way, the war chiefs gained political experience that would lend future 
stability to the government as they aged and went on to become peace chiefs 
or members of the decision-making councils. 

Religious beliefs on the Plains tended to hold the bison as a central figure 
of the sacred earth. Most groups kept “medicine bundles,” a collection of 
sacred objects holding symbolic importance for the group. Often, religious 
celebrations center on the medicine bundle. For instance, the most 
important medicine bundle for the Cheyenne contains four sacred arrows 
given to the prophet Sweet Medicine by the Creator, Maheo. Each year, the 
medicine bundle was celebrated in a five-day ceremony which reenacted 
the creation of the world. During the ceremony, the arrows were cleansed 
and the world was renewed. The concept of world renewal was an important 
one in Plains religion. One of the important world renewal ceremonies 
celebrated by many Plains cultures was the Sun Dance. The Sun Dance 
was sponsored by an individual who wished to give to his tribe or to thank 
or petition the supernatural through the act of self-sacrifice for the good 
of the group. Celebration of the Sun Dance varied in detail from group to 
group, but a general pattern holds. The Sun Dance usually occurred in the 
summer and involved the erection of a large structure with a central pole, 
symbolizing the Tree of Life, as its dominant feature. Large groups would 
gather for the celebration, to give thanks, celebrate, pray, and fast. The 
individual sponsoring the Sun Dance would pray and fast throughout the 
celebration, which lasted up to a week in duration. He was the celebration’s 
lead dancer, and the dance would continue until his strength was completely 
gone. Often, the dance involved some kind of bloodletting or self-torture. 
Participants might pierce the skin and/or muscle of the chest and attach 
themselves to the central pole, dancing around or hanging from it until the 
pins were pulled free. Another variation involved piercing the muscles of the 
back in a similar way and dragging buffalo skulls behind the dancer until the 
weight of the skull ripped the pins free. The scars that the dancers carried 
after the celebration were a mark of honor. At the end of the Sun Dance, 
the world was renewed and replenished. Finally, another kind of ceremony 
celebrated by many Plains groups was the smoking of the calumet, often 
called the “peace pipe.” The smoking of the calumet bonded individuals and 
groups together. Smoking recognized alliances, formalized ceremonies, and 
established kin relations between individuals. 
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1.4.3 The Northeast 

Northeastern groups were complex in many ways. Economically, they 
relied on both hunting/gathering and farming. Many participated in a 
system of exchange with shells as the medium. After the 1600s, groups began 
manufacturing wampum, made from white and purple shell beads, using 
them to record important events and to formalize agreements. Exact copies 
would be made for each party participating in an agreement. Wampum was 
very highly valued. 

Politically, groups were led by men called sachems. Many towns organized 
themselves into tribes or nations; some tribes further allied to form political 
confederacies of affiliated nations. The Iroquois, or Haudenosaunee, 

made up of an association of the Mohawk, Oneida, Onondaga, Cayuga, and 
Seneca nations, was the largest and most successful of these northeastern 
confederacies. Confederacies were governed by councils made up of leaders 
from each of the member tribes; the most influential of these leaders often 
led the council itself. Among the Iroquois, the council was made up of fifty 
sachems from each of the Five Nations. Council members were chosen from 
among families designated to inherit the post. 

Warfare played an important role in the Northeast, as it was the chief 
way to gain power and prestige. Revenge primarily motivated warfare 
in the region. A cycle of war was ensured because each group sought to 
avenge those killed in earlier wars or skirmishes in what became called the 
“Mourning Wars.” Acceptable outcomes of war could take several forms: 
killing the enemy, taking captives, and taking trophies of some sorts, often 
in the form of beheadings and/or scalping, a practice that may have been 
introduced to the region by the French. Captives would be taken back to the 
victors’ town, where they would be handed over to the women who had lost 
family members to war. These women led the torture of the captured, which 
often lasted for many hours or even days. The torture was quite brutal; 
prisoners were cut, beaten, mutilated, and burned. Ultimately, one of two 
fates awaited the prisoners. Either they would be tortured to death, or the 
women might decide that they be adopted by one of the families who had 
lost men to war. The captive who withstood the torture by showing strength, 
singing his death song so as to have a good death, would be held in high 
esteem and sometimes spared. Occasionally, the torturers would consume 
the flesh of these tortured after their deaths. This might have been a means 
of ingesting the strength of the enemy; some have suggested that the torture 
and sacrifice of prisoners was a way to maintain cosmic order through the 
ceremonies of warfare, torture, and sacrifice. 
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1.5  conclusion 

1.6 CrItICal  thInkInG ExErCISES 

• What was the relationship between economic trade and political 
and social development in societies such as the Mississippian and 
Anasazi? What kinds of development does trade encourage? 

How are religion, politics, and social formation connected in 
groups such as the Cheyenne and Iroquois? Are there any kinds of 
discernible patterns? What are the ties between religion, politics, 
and social formation in our society? 

• 

Page | 24 

Prehistoric North America was home to a numerous and diverse array of 
peoples, languages, religions, and cultures. Scientific origin theories such 
as the Bering Land Bridge and the Solutrean hypothesis suggest that the 
ancestors of these groups arrived in the Western hemisphere at least 14,000 
years ago. The origin stories of most of the groups take another view, stressing 
the intimate relationship between “the people” and the land they lived in; 
many origin stories state that the land was created exclusively for the group. 
The earliest groups in the Americas are referred to as Paleo-Indians. Clovis 
points are one of the most important and closely identified artifacts with the 
Paleo-Indian era. Changes in the global climate helped to bring the Paleo-
Indian period to an end. The death of the megafauna meant that humans 
had to find new means of subsistence. The Archaic and Woodland periods, 
the archaeological periods following the Paleo-Indian, are characterized by 
the development of plant domestication and the beginnings of organized 
agricultural activities. Many of the groups of North America became 
agriculturalists, relying primarily on the Mesoamerican triad of corn, beans, 
and squash. The surplus of food from agriculture enabled the development 
of complex towns and cities such as the Mississippian Cahokia settlement. 
Regional geography also played a role in shaping groups; for instance, 
groups on the Plains came to be characterized by relying on the buffalo as a 
main source of food and resources for subsistence. 

The Native American world that Europeans contacted after 1492 was 
complex, highly developed, and rich in oral history. The period of contact 
between Europeans and hundreds of native groups played an important 
role in shaping American colonies and nations, the United States among 
them. From the very beginning, Indians played a pivotal role in shaping the 
future of the nation. 
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1.7 kEy tErmS 

• Agricultural Revolution  

Anasazi (Ancient Puebloans)  

Atlatl  

Bering Land Bridge  

Buffalo Jump 

Cahokia 

Clan  

Clovis  

Coastal Migration Theory 

Counting Coup 

Kachina 

Kiva  

Matrilineal  

Medicine Bundle  

Megafauna  

Mesoamerican Triad  

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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• 
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• 

• 

• Mississippians  

Monk’s Mound 

Monte Verde Site  

Mourning Wars 

Origin Story  

Paleo-Indian 

Potlatch  

Poverty Point  

Pre-contact Era 

Solutrean Hypothesis  

Southeastern Ceremonial  
Complex  

Sun Dance  

Vero Man Site 

Woodland Period 
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chapter two: the global context: Asia, europe, and 
Africa in the early Modern era 
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2.1 IntrODUCtIOn 
The period before European contact with the Americas marked the 

beginning of globalization. During this time, the world became, in a sense, 
both larger and smaller. Voyages of exploration captured the immensity of 
the earth in maps, images, and the writings of travelers; simultaneously, 
emerging webs of connection between regions and peoples brought the 
world closer together. Thus, we often refer to this period as the “early 
modern era.” For the first time, we see the emergence of a world that bears 
great similarity to ours of the twenty-first century, a world interconnected 
through trade, politics, culture, and religion. China took the lead in oceanic 
exploration in the early fifteenth century, but by mid-century leaders 
stopped seeking overseas markets. They preferred to let the trade come to 
them. Chinese efforts gave way to the much more aggressive Portugal and 
Spain who competed for control of the Atlantic in the fifteenth and sixteenth 
centuries. Both countries had engaged in overland trade with the Islamic 
world in the Middle Ages and hoped to find alternatives to the land routes 
used to conduct business with the Indies. Meanwhile, England and France 
largely ignored the trend of oceanic exploration in the sixteenth century. 
While their leaders witnessed the success the Portuguese and Spanish 
had, internal problems blunted their ability to sponsor expeditions. As 
the European nations expanded their presence in the Atlantic Ocean, they 
also drew many African kingdoms into their global web. The European 
exploration of the early sixteenth century set the stage for later colonization 
in the Americas. 

2.1.1 learning Outcomes 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to: 
• Analyze the roles the emergence of a more powerful monarchy and religious 

changes played in the development of England and France in the Age of 
Discovery. 

• Compare the goals and outcomes of early Chinese and Iberian voyages during 
this era. 

• Evaluate the development of early globalization through exploration and 

trade.
 

• Analyze the connections between new technologies and the growth of the Age 
of Discovery. 

• Evaluate the role of Africa in the period before contact. 
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spice trade, including items such as cloves, pepper, and ginger. The spice 
trade, Europeans knew, originated somewhere in Asia and made its way 
through India before entering the hands of Muslim traders, who brought 
the product to European markets. Trade with Asia in spices would not 
only enrich the nation that established contact, but also would weaken the 
Muslim world and strengthen the Christian world by diverting the overland 
spice trade to a European sea trade. This promise of great wealth and sense 
of religious completion drove the Portuguese to explore the coast of Africa 
in search of a route to India. The same ideas motivated Columbus to seek a 
route to Asia and the spice trade by sailing west. 

The Portuguese established trade networks along the coast of West Africa, 
trading for gold and, by 1441, for slaves. To facilitate trade, Portuguese 
captains negotiated relationships with African kingdoms and leaders in 
port cities, exchanging gifts and goods to secure permission to trade. They 
established stone fortresses known as feitorias, or factories, that served as 
trading posts and as holding areas for slaves. In later years, other nations 
such as the Dutch, Spanish, and British followed this pattern as the Trans-
Atlantic slave trade emerged, driven by labor-intensive crops such as sugar, 
rice, and cotton. 

The Portuguese explored the coast of Africa not only for profit and 
religious purpose, but also in search of the mythical kingdom of Prester 
John. The myth of Prester John emerged in Europe sometime in the twelfth 
century. Prester John was said to be a Christian monarch somewhere in the 
Orient—possibly India or Africa—that ruled in the midst of Muslims. Some 
said he was a descendant of one of the Three Magi; others claimed that the 
Fountain of Youth was to be found in his kingdom. In any case, Europeans 
viewed Prester John as a possible ally against the encroachment of Islam 
and as a powerful Christian figure in the Muslim world. In the late 1400s, 
Portugal sent ships in search of Prester John; eventually, a Portuguese 
captain made contact with the African Christian kingdom of Ethiopia. The 
Portuguese concluded that the Ethiopian monarch was in fact Prester John, 
even though such a figure would have been several hundred years old by 
1500. 

Portuguese exploration continued through the end of the fifteenth century. 
One of the most significant moments came in 1487, when Bartholomew Diaz 
rounded the Cape of Good Hope at the tip of Africa. A decade later, Vasco 
da Gama reached the subcontinent of India. This moment was particularly 
significant, for it marked the Portuguese entry into the lucrative spice trade 
which, until this time, had been dominated by Muslim traders. From India, 
the Portuguese continued east, following the spice trade to the so-called Spice 
Islands, today a part of Indonesia. In 1511, Admiral Alfonso de Albuquerque 
conquered the city and Strait of Malacca, which controlled all sea trade 
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between China and India. This capture provided the Portuguese with a port 
of call at the heart of the spice trade while simultaneously breaking the Arab 
spice trade network. The conquest of Malacca marked the beginning of a 
period of great wealth, power, and prosperity for Portugal. 

Columbus’s 1492 voyage of discovery brought a new sense of competition 
to the race for the spice trade. In 1494, the Treaty of Tordesillas was 
negotiated and signed to preserve order and to effectively divide the world’s 
trade routes into spheres of influence. The treaty imagined a line about 
halfway between the Portuguese-held Cape Verde islands off the coast of 
Africa and the islands discovered by Columbus, namely Hispaniola and 
Cuba. Lands and routes to the east belonged to Portugal; lands and routes 
to the west, to Spain. 

2.2.2 The Spanish in the Age of Discovery 

While 1492 is best known for Christopher Columbus’s voyage to the New 
World, the year was also significant to the Spanish for reasons other than 
Columbus’s “discovery.” First and foremost, 1492 marked the end of the 
long Reconquista of the Spanish peninsula with Ferdinand and Isabella’s 
conquest of Grenada, the last area to be held by Muslims. To consolidate 
their victory and to begin the process of “purifying” their kingdoms, the 
monarchs issued orders for all Jews and Muslims to make a choice: convert 
to Christianity or leave Spain. For many of the Spanish, the Reconquista 
had been as much a religious as a military re-conquest of the land. The 
Roman Catholic Church viewed the Spanish Reconquista as a great victory 
for Christianity; the pope marked the event by granting the monarchs the 
Patronado Real, which gave them powers to oversee the operation of the 
Church within their realm. The idea of religious conquest and the power of 
the Spanish monarch to oversee representatives of the Church in later years 
would play an important role in the New World as the Crown sent thousands 
of monks to convert Indians to Christianity. Proselytization was of course 
part of the Christian doctrine, and as good Catholics, the monarchs felt it 
their duty to convert the natives. Moreover, the Spanish had revisited their 
identity as Spaniards and as Christians in the wake of hundreds of years of 
Muslim rule and the Reconquista. The newly reformed Spanish identity was 
unquestionably Christian, and all subjects of the Crown were to belong to 
the Catholic fold. Thus, the religious conquest would be brought to the New 
World along with the military conquest. 

For Spain, Columbus’s voyage joined with the excitement of defeating 
the Muslims at Grenada. Isabella, Queen of Castile, agreed to support 
Columbus’s enterprise in the hope of great gains for God and Castile. She 
promised him a title of nobility and 10 percent of the gold, silver, spices, 
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and other valuables he obtained if he were successful. Columbus sailed 
in September of 1492 with three ships, fewer than ninety men, a year’s 
provisions, and a fundamental misunderstanding of the size of the earth. 
Scholars all over Europe argued that Columbus grossly underestimated 
the distance to Asia. This, along with Columbus’s egotistical demeanor 
and demands for great personal rewards from his expedition, ensured that 
Columbus failed to enlist other potential backers to finance the voyage. 

On October 12, 1492, Columbus and his men sighted an island in the 
chain later named the Bahamas. Further exploration revealed Hispaniola 
and Cuba, the two largest islands in the Greater Antilles of the Caribbean. 
He established a settlement called La Navidad and left thirty-nine men 
to secure it. Columbus returned to Spain in 1493, convinced that he had 
reached Asia. He described a tropical paradise and brought back enough 
gold and valuables to secure permission for a second voyage. 

The Caribbean quickly became the base for further Spanish exploration of 
the region. Within twenty-five years, European explorers and cartographers 
had sketched a remarkably accurate outline of the Caribbean and the eastern 
coasts of North, South, and Central America. For a time, Columbus himself 
served as Governor of the Indies, the name used by the Spanish for the 
Americas. He was accused of harsh rule and mistreatment of the colonists, 
who called him “the tyrant of the Caribbean.” Columbus was arrested and 
returned to Spain in chains, where he was stripped of his titles and office for 
misrule. 

Columbus went to his grave believing that his voyages had taken 
him to Asia. Others, however, argued that he had reached a previously 
unknown land mass, a so-called “New World.” While the Spanish were 
busy establishing themselves in the Caribbean, Vasco da Gama had made 
contact with India and thus had “won” the race to tap into the spice trade. 
Columbus’s mathematical errors and fundamental misunderstanding were 
confirmed in late 1520, when Ferdinand Magellan’s fleet entered the Pacific 
Ocean. Magellan had been commissioned by the Spanish Crown to seek a 
trade route to Asia; however, what his voyage revealed was the immensity of 
South America and the Pacific Ocean. Although Magellan died mid-voyage, 
his fleet became the first to successfully circumnavigate the globe, returning 
to Spain in 1525. The voyage took an incredible toll on the fleet; of the 
original 237 men and five ships, only one ship and eighteen men survived. 

The legacy of circumnavigation of the globe revealed itself politically, 
economically, and scientifically. The Treaty of Tordesillas had established 
that the world was to be divided into two zones of influence; this agreement 
lacked the exact divide between Portuguese and Spanish territory in the 
east. Since the Spanish fleet reached Asia and the Moluccas, or the Spice 

Page | 34 Page | 34 



Page | 35 

Chapter Two: The Global Context

 

 

Islands, they claimed that the Portuguese were violating their territory, thus 
bringing the two nations once more into conflict. The matter was resolved 
in 1529 with the Treaty of Zaragoza, which gave the Moluccas to Portugal 
and the Philippines to Spain. Although Spain was disappointed not to have 
gained the Spice Islands, the Philippines quickly became an important base 
of Spanish operations for Asian trade. They obtained particular importance 
after Spain established mining operations in the colonies of New Spain and 
Peru, when silver became the basis for great wealth. 

Scientifically, Magellan’s voyage revealed the exact size of the earth’s 
diameter. It also established the need for an International Date Line. 
Although the mariners kept strict track of dates over the voyage in a logbook, 
they found upon their return to Europe that they were one day behind the 
calendar. They had, in effect, lost a day while traveling westward, counter to 
the earth’s rotation. 

2.2.3 Before You Move On... 

key Concepts 
Portugal was one of the leaders of the European Age of Discovery. 

The Portuguese were able successfully to navigate the open sea because 
of the compass, the astrolabe, and the caravel. Under the sponsorship 
of Prince Henry the Navigator, the Portuguese explored the coast of 
Africa and later established trading posts up and down the coast of West 
Africa. The Portuguese also established trading ports in India and, after 
the conquest of Malacca, in the Spice Islands. Portugal’s entry into the 
Indian Ocean marked the beginning of a powerful sea empire. 

The Spanish followed Portugal’s lead after completing the Reconquista  
and sponsoring Columbus’s 1492 voyage. Like the Portuguese, 
Columbus’s goal had been to reach Asia to tap into the lucrative spice 
trade. Columbus instead reached a “New World,” and the Spanish found 
themselves exploring vast new lands. Competition between Portugal 
and Spain was alleviated with the Treaty of Tordesillas, which divided 
the earth into two zones of influence. However, competition was reborn 
when the Spanish circumnavigated the globe in 1520-1525. The Treaty 
of Zaragosa established the antemeridian of the Treaty of Tordesillas, 
effectively extending the dividing line into the eastern half of the globe 
and completing the separation of the zones of influence. 
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norms of slavery that became established in the New World. For instance, 
slaves in Africa were not property; they retained some rights as a person 
and as an individual. The condition of slavery was not inherited; if a slave 
had children, then the children were born free. Moreover, the condition of 
slavery might not last an entire lifetime but instead a period of years. 

The Trans-Atlantic slave trade emerged with the colonization of the 
New World. As the need for labor grew, so too did the trade. At first, some 
Europeans tried to use force in acquiring slaves, but this method proved 
impracticable on any scale. The only workable method was acquiring slaves 
through trade with Africans, since they controlled all trade into the interior. 
Typically, Europeans were restricted to trading posts, or feitorias, along the 
coast. Captives were brought to the feitorias, where they were processed as 
cargo rather than as human beings. Slaves were kept imprisoned in small, 
crowded rooms, segregated by sex and age, and “fattened up” if they were 
deemed too small for transport. They were branded to show what merchant 
purchased them, that taxes had been paid, and even that they had been 
baptized as a Christian. The high mortality rate of the slave trade began 
on the forced march to the feitorias and in a slave’s imprisonment within 
them; the mortality rate continued to climb during the second part of the 
journey, the Middle Passage. 

The Middle Passage, the voyage across the Atlantic from Africa to the 
Americas, comprised the middle leg of the Atlantic Triangle Trade network, 

figure 2.5 atlantic triangle trade | The Triangle Trade linked Europe, Africa, and the Americas as part 
of a greater Atlantic World. 

Author: Jon Chui 
Source: Wikimedia Commons 
License: CC BY-SA 3.0 
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2.6 conclusion 

The period before contact with the Americas marked the beginning of 
globalization. During this era, the world grew ever more interconnected 
through trade, politics, culture, and religion. In China, the rise of the Ming 
Dynasty in 1439 began a new era. Under the Ming Dynasty, the Forbidden 
City, the seat of Chinese rule in the following centuries and a lasting symbol 
of Chinese power, was built. The Chinese were the first to undertake 
substantial oceanic voyages in the Age of Discovery. Zheng He’s massive 
fleet dwarfed European expeditions of the period, both in the numbers and 
size of the ships. The armada explored much of the Indian Ocean region 
as far as Africa, mapping, charting, trading, and incorporating a great part 
of the region into a Chinese tributary system. Although a few historians 
have suggested that Zheng He’s fleet voyaged as far as Australia and the 
Americas, compelling documentary evidence for this is lacking. 

In Europe, under the sponsorship of Prince Henry the Navigator, 
Portugal emerged as one of the leaders of the European Age of Discovery, 
in part because of technologies such as the compass, the astrolabe, and 
the caravel. The Portuguese established trading ports along the coast of 
West Africa as well as in India. After Columbus’s 1492 voyage, the Spanish 
found themselves exploring vast new lands. Competition between Portugal 
and Spain was alleviated with the Treaty of Tordesillas and the Treaty of 
Zaragosa. These two agreements effectively divided the earth into two zones 
of influence. Meanwhile, England and France took shape as nation states, 
seeking to exert greater influence over their subjects. By the 1500s, England 
and France were sovereign states characterized by strong monarchies. These 
developments helped to pave the way for their overseas expansion in the 
seventeenth century; however, they had to deal with internal schisms caused 
by the Protestant Reformation before they could devote their attention to 
catching up with Portugal and Spain. 

On the eve of the sixteenth century, Africa was a continent of tremendous 
diversity and home to hundreds of cultures, languages, and political states. 
In the centuries before the Age of Discovery, Africa saw the rise to pre­
eminence of a number of impressive kingdoms: Ghana, Mali, and Songhay 
in the west, the city states of the East African coast, and in the south, Great 
Zimbabwe. Different regions in Africa experienced the changes of the era in 
different ways. Western and Central Africa were greatly influenced by the 
changes wrought by the slave trade. The Kingdom of Dahomey provides 
an example of one of the ways that African groups were influenced by and 
participated in both the Age of Discovery and the Trans-Atlantic slave 
trade. The Trans-Atlantic slave trade was the middle portion of the Atlantic 
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Triangle Trade network. At least ten million Africans were enslaved and 
forced to make the Middle Passage across the Atlantic to the New World. 
Mortality rates for the Middle Passage averaged around 12-13 percent. 

Voyages of exploration captured the immensity of the earth in maps 
and images and created webs of connection between regions and peoples, 
bringing the world closer together. It is for these reasons that this period 
is often referred to as the Early Modern Era. For the first time, we see the 
emergence of a world that bears great similarity to ours of the twenty-
first century, a world interconnected through trade, politics, culture, and 
religion. 

2.7 CrItICal  thInkInG ExErCISES 

• How might the Age of Discovery have been fundamentally changed 
if the Chinese had not abandoned their voyages of trade and 
exploration under Zheng He? Why, in your estimation, did Yung 
Lo’s successor Zhu Zhanji decide to end the voyages in 1433? 

How did trade and the economy shape how each group or nation 
participated in the Age of Discovery? What are some other factors 
that shaped participation? Did religion or economy play a greater 
role in determining the actions of a nation during the Age of 
Discovery? 

Why do we know so little about the medieval empires of Africa? 
What sources do we depend on to instruct us in their history? 

• 

• 
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2.9 ChrOnOlOGy 
The following chronology is a list of important dates and events associated 

with this chapter. 

Date Event 

642-800 Muslim conquest of Egypt and North Africa 

650-1500 Slave trade from sub-Saharan Africa to 
Mediterranean 

900-1100 Kingdom of Ghana created and flourished 

1100-1400 Great Zimbabwe built and flourished 

1154 Henry II became King of England, launching the
Angevin dynasty 

1180 Phillip II became the King of France and then 
expanded Capetian control over the continent 

1194 Phillip II of France and Richard I of England began a
war over Normandy 

1215 King John of England accepted the Magna Carta 

1250 End of Portuguese Reconquista 

1300 Kilwa becomes the most power city state in East 
Africa 

1312-1337 Reign of Mansa Musa in Mali 

1324-1325 Mansa Musa’s pilgrimage to Mecca 

1337 Hundred Years’ War between England and France 
broke out 

1348 The Black Death (the Plague) spread across Europe 

1369 Chinese defeated the Mongols and founded the Ming
dynasty 

1405-1433 Zheng He’s seven voyages into the Indian Ocean 
region 

1453 Wars of the Roses began in England 

1485 Henry VII became King of England, ending the Wars
of the Roses and launching the Tudor dynasty 

1487 Bartlolmieu Dias rounded Cape of Good Hope 
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chapter three: initial contact and conquest 

3.1 IntrODUCtIOn 
The discovery of the New World in 1492 was one of the most important 

events in world history. Over the next two hundred years, the world 
underwent a rapid transformation in various areas of knowledge: geography, 
demographics, botany, anthropology, and history. European nations were 
also changed and challenged politically as they attempted to exert their 
control over these new lands. Although what would become the United 
States of America came to be dominated by English colonies, English models 
of colonialism were not the earliest or most powerful models of colonial 
control to emerge in the Americas. This chapter will explore the experience 
of first contact between the hemispheres in the forms of interactions between 
Europeans and Indians, developing and differing models of colonial control 
under the Spanish, Portuguese, French, and Dutch, and the process known 
as the Columbian Exchange: the exchange of people, plants, animals, and 
diseases that forever changed both the Old and New Worlds. 

In the earliest era of contact and conquest, the Spanish dominated the 
New World. Their experiences largely defined early European knowledge 
of the Americas and its native inhabitants, the Indians, a group unknown 
to Europeans. In the fifty years after Christopher Columbus discovered 
the Americas in 1492, the Spanish expanded throughout the Caribbean, 
Mesoamerica, and the Andes, establishing the basis for a powerful 
hemispheric empire. Two of the main challenges the Spanish faced in 
establishing and administering their new empires were distance and time; 
the vast expanse of the Atlantic Ocean separating colony and mother 
country, and the long journey between the two, meant that communication 
was difficult. The distance between Europe and the Americas played a very 
important role in shaping colonial administration as well as patterns and 
methods of imperial control. 

The first challenge to Spanish hegemony in the New World came with 
the Treaty of Tordesillas, which divided the known non-European world 
between Spain and Portugal. Part of Brazil fell within the Portuguese area 
of claim, leading to a growing struggle for control in the region between the 
powers. Later, France and the Netherlands entered the Americas. These two 
nations took a primarily economic interest in the American hemisphere, 
shaping their models of colonial administration largely around trade. 
The French spent much of their energy in conjunction with their political 
and economic capital building a fur trade in the North American frontier. 
The Dutch established their foothold in the Caribbean, engaging in both 
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legitimate trade and smuggling under the aegis of the Dutch West Indies 
Company. Politically, both France and the Netherlands wanted to weaken the 
Iberian hold on the Americas. The French actively contested Spanish power 
by trying to establish a colony in Spanish Florida. The Dutch were much less 
overt in their contestation of Iberian power; instead of establishing large, 
rival colonies, they concentrated on weakening the Spanish economically 
through piracy. However, the Dutch took on the Portuguese much more 
directly, conquering small but important lands in Brazil, wresting these 
areas from Portuguese control. 

3.1.1 learning Outcomes 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to: 
• Analyze the motives of such explorers as Christopher Columbus, Pedro 

Cabral, Hernán Cortés, and Francisco Pizarro in venturing to Meso and South 
America and the motives of European monarchs in their efforts to reach the 
Indian Ocean by an all-water route. 

• Explain the receptions extended to the Spanish explorers by the Indians of 
Mexico, Peru, and Brazil and the tactics employed by the Spanish as they 
attempted to conquer the Aztec and Inca Empires. 

• Describe the complexities of the encounter of the Old World and the New, 
including the exchange of crops, animals, and diseases, as well as the 
experiences of the conquistadores and Native American as they interacted. 

• Explain the dimensions of the Native American Holocaust and 

Transculturation.
 

• Discuss the impact of the Columbian Exchange on both the Old and New 

Worlds.
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3.2 thE ImPaCt Of “DISCOvEry”: thE COlUmBIan 
ExChanGE 
Most historians in the twenty-first century insist that the merits of 
Columbus and his experience must be measured in terms of fifteenth 
and sixteenth century standards and values, and not in terms of those 
of the twenty-first century. Columbus was a product of the crusading 
zeal of the Renaissance period, a religious man, whose accomplishments 
were remarkable. He sailed west and though he did not make it to the 
East Indies, he did encountered continents previously unknown to the 
Europeans. The subsequent crop and animal exchange revolutionized the 
lifestyle of Europeans, Asians, and Africans. Historians refer to this process 
as the “Columbian Exchange.” The Exchange introduced (or in the case 
of the horse, reintroduced) into the New World such previously unknown 
commodities as cattle, horses, sugar, tea, and coffee, while such products 
as tobacco, potatoes, chocolate, corn, and tomatoes made their way from 
the New World into the Old World. Not all exchanges were beneficial, of 
course; European diseases such as smallpox and influenza, to which the 
Native Americans had no resistance, were responsible for the significant 
depopulation of the New World. 

Because of such crops as the potato, the sweet potato, and maize, 
however, Europeans and later the East Asians were able to vary their diets 
and participate in the technological revolution that would begin within 200 
years of Columbus’s voyage. 

The biological exchange following the voyages of Columbus was even more 
extensive than originally thought. Europeans discovered llamas, alpacas, 
iguana, flying squirrels, catfish, rattlesnakes, bison, cougars, armadillos, 
opossums, sloths, anacondas, electric eels, vampire bats, toucans, condors, 
and hummingbirds in the Americas. Europeans introduced goats and crops 
such as snap, kidney, and lima beans, barley, oats, wine grapes, melons, 
coffee, olives, bananas, and more to the New World. 

3.2.1 From the New World to the Old: The Exchange of Crops 

Corn (or maize) is a New World crop, which was unknown in the Old 
World before Columbus’s voyage in 1492. Following his four voyages, corn 
quickly became a staple crop in Europe. By 1630, the Spanish took over 
commercial production of corn, overshadowing the ancient use of maize for 
subsistence in Mesoamerica. Corn also became an important crop in China, 
whose population was the world’s largest in the early modern period. China 
lacked flat lands on which to grow crops, and corn was a hearty crop which 
grew in many locations that would otherwise be unable to be cultivated. 
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Today corn is produced in most countries of the world and is the third-most 
planted field crop (after wheat and rice). 

Both the white and the sweet potato were New World crops that were 
unknown in the Old World before Columbus. The white potato originated 
in South America in the Andes Mountains where the natives developed over 
200 varieties and pioneered the freeze-dried potato, or chuño, which can be 
stored for up to four years. Incan units of time were based on how long it 
took for a potato to cook to various consistencies. Potatoes were even used to 
divine the truth and predict weather. It became a staple crop in Europe after 
Columbus and was brought to North America by the Scots-Irish immigrants 
in the 1700s. The white potato is also known as the “Irish” potato as it 
provided the basic food supply of the Irish in the early modern period. The 
potato is a good source of many nutrients. When the Irish potato famine hit 
in the nineteenth century, many Irish immigrated to the Americas. 

The sweet potato became an important crop in Europe as well as Asia. 
Because China has little flat land for cultivation, long ago its people learned 
to terrace its mountainous areas in order to create more arable land. During 
the Ming (1398-1644) and Qing (1644-1911) Dynasties, China became the 
most populous nation on Earth. The sweet potato grew easily in many 
different climates and settings, and the Chinese learned to harvest it in the 
early modern period to supplement the rice supply and to compensate for 
the lack of flat lands on which to create rice paddies. 

Tobacco was a New World crop, first discovered in 1492 on San Salvador 
when the Arawak gave Columbus and his men fruit and some pungent dried 
leaves. Columbus ate the fruit but threw away the leaves. Later, Rodrigo de 
Jerez witnessed natives in Cuba smoking tobacco in pipes for ceremonial 
purposes and as a symbol of good will. 

By 1565, tobacco had spread throughout Europe. It became popular in 
England after it was introduced by Sir Walter Raleigh, explorer and national 
figure. By 1580, tobacco usage had spread from Spain to Turkey, and from 
there to Russia, France, England, and the rest of Asia. In 1614, the Spanish 
mandated that tobacco from the New World be sent to Seville, which became 
the world center for the production of cigars. In the same year, King James 
I of England created a royal monopoly on tobacco imports, though at the 
same time calling it “that noxious weed” and warning of its adverse effects. 

Peppers have been found in prehistoric remains in Peru, where the Incas 
established their empire. They were grown in Central and South America. 
Spanish explorers first carried pepper seeds to Spain in 1493, and the plants 
then spread throughout Europe. Peppers are now cultivated in the tropical 
regions of Asia and in the Americas near the equator. 
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Tomatoes originated in the coastal highlands of western South America 
and were later cultivated by the Maya in Mesoamerica. The Spanish took 
them to Europe, where at first the Europeans believed them to be poisonous 
because of the pungent odor of their leaves. The Physalis pubescens, or 
husk tomato, was called tomatl by the natives, whereas the early common 
tomato was the xitomatl. The Spaniards called both fruits tomatoes. The 
use of tomatoes in sauces became known as “Spanish” cuisine. American 
tomatoes gradually made their way into the cuisine of Portugal, North Africa, 
and Italy, as well as the Germanic and Slavic regions held by the Spanish 
and Austrian Habsburgs. By the late seventeenth century, tomatoes were 
included in southern Italian dishes, where they were known as also poma 
d’oro. Raw and cooked tomatoes were eaten in the Caribbean, Philippines, 
and southeastern Asia. 

The peanut plant probably originated in Brazil or Peru. Inca graves often 
contain jars filled with peanuts to provide food for the dead in the afterlife. 
When the Spanish arrived in the New World, peanuts were grown as far 
north as Mexico. The explorers took peanuts back to Spain, where they are 
still grown. From Spain, traders and explorers took peanuts to Africa and 
Asia. Africans believed the plant possessed a soul, and they brought peanuts 
to the southern part of North America when they were brought there as 
slaves. The word “goober” comes from the Congo name for peanuts, nguba. 

The wonderful commodity we know as chocolate is a product of the 
cacao tree. This tree requires the warm, moist climate which is found only 
within fifteen or twenty degrees of the equator. The first written records of 
chocolate date to the sixteenth century, but this product of cacao trees was 
likely harvested as long as three or four thousand years ago. This product 
consists of pods containing a pulpy mass, inside of which are seeds. The 
cacao bean is a brown kernel inside the seed. 

The Olmec used cacao beans as early as 400 BCE; later the Mayans, 
Aztecs, and Toltecs also cultivated the crop. Eventually, the Indians learned 
how to make a drink from grinding the beans into a paste, thinning it with 
water, and adding sweeteners such as honey. They called the drink xocolatl 
(pronounced shoco-latle). The Aztecs used cacao beans as currency, and in 
1502, Columbus returned from one of his expeditions with a bag full of cacao 
beans as a sample of the coins being used in the New World. In 1519, Cortés 
observed the Aztec Emperor Montezuma and his court drinking chocolate. 
In 1606, Italians reached the West Indies and returned with the secret of 
this splendid potion. The drink became popular in Europe, and in 1657, the 
first chocolate house opened in London. 
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The Exchange of Diseases 

Although the origin of syphilis has been widely debated and its exact 
origin is unknown, Europeans like Bartolomé de las Casas, who visited the 
Americas in the early sixteenth century, wrote that the disease was well 
known among the natives there. Skeletal remains of Native Americans from 
this period and earlier suggest that here, in contrast to other regions of the 
world, the disease had a congenital form. Skeletons show “Hutchinson’s 
Teeth”, which are associated with the congenital form of the disease. They 
also show lesions on the skull and other parts of the skeleton, a feature 
associated with the late stages of the disease. 

A second explanation which has received a good deal of support in the 
twenty-first century is that syphilis existed in the Old World prior to the 
voyages of Columbus, but that it was unrecognized until it became common 
and widely spread in the years following the discovery of the New World. 

The eighteenth century writer Voltaire called syphilis the “first fruits the 
Spanish brought from the New World.” The disease was first described in 
Europe after Charles VIII of France marched his troops to Italy in 1494; 
when his men returned to France, they brought the disease with them and 
from there it spread to Germany, Switzerland, Greece, and other regions. 
When Vasco da Gama sailed around the tip of Africa in 1498, he carried the 
disease to India. In the 1500s, it reached China; in 1520 it reached Japan, 
where fifty percent of the population in Edo (modern Tokyo) was infected 
within one hundred years. Hernán Cortés contracted the disease in Haiti 
as he made his way to Mesoamerica. So widespread was the disease in the 
sixteenth century, it was called the “Great Pox” or, in a reflection of politics 
associated with the development of nation states, the disease was called the 
“French Pox,” the “Italian Pox,” or whatever name reflected the antagonisms 
of the time. 

The Europeans brought smallpox, influenza, measles, and typhus to 
the New World, devastating the Native American population. Although 
Europeans had resistance to these diseases, the Native Americans did not. In 
Europe, measles was a minor irritant; in the New World, it killed countless 
natives. In the twenty-five years after Columbus landed on Hispaniola, the 
population there dropped from 5,000,000 to 500. 

Some scholars estimate that between fifty to ninety percent of the Native 
American population died in the wake of the Spanish voyages. If these 
percentages are correct, they would represent an epidemic of monumental 
proportions to which there are no comparisons. For example, during the 
fourteenth century, the Black Death ravaged Europe, killing about fourteen 
million people, or between thirty to fifty percent of the population. By 
contrast, in Mexico alone, eight million people died from the diseases 
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brought by the Spanish; there is really no accurate count as to how many 
other natives died in other regions of the Americas. The impact of smallpox 
on the native population continued for many centuries after Columbus. 
During the westward expansion of the United States, pioneers and the army 
often gave Native Americans blankets laced with smallpox germs in order to 
more quickly “civilize” the West. 

The Exchange of Animals 

Fossil evidence shows that turkeys were in the Americas ten million 
years ago. Wild turkeys are originally native to North and Central America. 
Mesoamericans domesticated the turkey, and the Spanish took it to Europe. 
By 1524 the turkey reached England, and by 1558, it was popular at banquets 
in England and in other parts of Europe. Ironically, English settlers brought 
the domesticated turkey back to North America and interbred it with native 
wild turkeys. In 1579, the English explorer Martin Frobisher celebrated the 
first formal Thanksgiving in the Americas with a ceremony in Newfoundland 
to give thanks for surviving the long journey. The pilgrims who settled in 
Plymouth, Massachusetts in 1621 celebrated their first harvest in the New 
World by eating wild turkey. 

Although the horse very likely originated in the Americas, it migrated to 
Asia over the Bering Strait land bridge and became extinct in the Americas 
after prehistoric times. The horse was completely unknown to the Native 
Americans prior to the Spanish conquest. In 1519, Hernán Cortés wrote: 
“Next to God, We Owe Our Victory to Our Horses.”  Cortés had brought 
only sixteen horses, but because the Aztecs fought primarily on foot, the 
Spaniards had a decided advantage. After their victory over the Aztecs, 
the Spanish brought more horses. In 1519, Coronado had 150 horses when 
he went to North America, and de Soto had 237 horses in 1539. By 1547, 
Antonio de Mendoza, the first governor of New Spain (Mexico), owned over 
1,500 horses. The Spanish forbade Native Americans to ride horses without 
permission. 

Cattle were unknown in the Americas before the arrival of the Europeans. 
The Vikings brought European cattle to the Americas in 1000 CE. When 
their colony disappeared, so did their cattle. Columbus brought cattle to 
Hispaniola in 1493. In 1519, Cortés brought cattle to Central America. 
These cattle sported very long horns, hence the term “longhorns.” Spanish 
missionaries brought longhorns to Texas, New Mexico, and California; the 
breed also thrived in South America, especially near modern Brazil and 
Argentina. The Jamestown colony got its first cattle from England in 1611, 
and other European powers later brought cattle to their colonies. As the 
westward expansion began in the nineteenth century, the eastern cattle 
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supplanted the longhorn, as they were better for meat and proved to be 
hardy in difficult weather. Today, there are few longhorns in North America. 

Pigs were unknown in the Americas before Hernán do de Soto brought 
thirteen of these animals to the Florida mainland. Columbus brought red 
pigs to the Americas on his second voyage. They were also brought into the 
United States from the Guinea coast of Africa on early slave-trading vessels. 
Today, the state of Kansas alone produces enough pigs every year to feed 
ten million people. 

Sheep were first introduced in the southwestern United States by Cortés 
in 1519 to supply wool for his soldiers. Navajo sheep are descended from 
the multi-colored sheep from the Spanish. During the westward expansion 
of the nineteenth century, there would be great conflict between cattle and 
sheep owners over grazing land. 

3.2.2 From the Columbian Exchange to Transculturation 

The economic and cultural exchange in the wake of Columbus’s voyages 
brought about a profound shift in the world view of Europeans; the trading 
empires that resulted from the discovery of the Americas created a new, 
global economy in which many different peoples interacted. The economic 
exchange had a profound effect on society and politics and the Americas 
were a microcosm of these changes. 

Silver from the mines in the Americas flooded the European markets. 
From 1503-1650, the Spanish brought 6 million kilograms of silver and 
185,000 kilograms of gold into Seville. Although the influx of New World 
silver has often been blamed for the rampant inflation which hit Spain 
and later Europe in the sixteenth century, prices had already risen sharply 
before 1565, while silver imports did not reach their peak until 1580-1620. 
However, Phillip II of Spain paid his armies and foreign debts with New 
World silver and transmitted the rising prices and inflation in Spain to 
the rest of Europe. This surge in prices is known as the Price Revolution. 
In Saxony in 1517, the year Martin Luther posted his Ninety-Five Theses, 
prices had risen by one hundred percent over what they were in 1492, the 
year of Columbus’s first voyage. 

The Voyages of Exploration also created a global economy through sea 
trade. The Portuguese reached India and then went on to Japan and China. 
They brought back spices to Lisbon and often paid for these goods with 
textiles from India along with gold and ivory from East Africa. From the 
Portuguese outpost at Macao, they took Chinese silk to the Philippines and 
Japan, where they traded silk for Spanish silver. Spanish silver from the 
New World had a dramatic effect on the Chinese economy; the Single Whip 
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Figure 3.3 Fransisco Pizarro | Francisco 
Pizarro, using trickery and deceit, conquered the 
Incas of Peru in 1532 and executed the Inca emperor, 
Atahualpa. 

Author: D.M. Kelsey 
Source:  Columbus and the New World Heroes of 
Discovery and Conquest 

best of intentions. Atahualpa agreed 
to meet Pizarro and his forces the 
following day at Cajamarca in the 
highlands of Peru. 

On November 16, 1532, when 
Atahualpa and his 7,000-man, 
unarmed escort arrived, the Spanish, 
who were positioned around the 
town square, opened fire and 2,000 
Inca were killed outright. Pizarro 
then rounded up and killed the Inca 
nobles. The Spaniards on horses rode 
through the carnage, swinging steel 
swords, and decapitating the bodies. 
Atahualpa was taken prisoner, and 
though the Incas came to Pizarro 
with mounds of gold for his ransom 
(which Pizarro gleefully accepted), 
Pizarro had Atahualpa executed, 
which was similar to the approach 
Cortés practiced in Mexico. 

Once the conquest was complete, 
Pizarro appointed a nominal ruler 

of the Inca Empire, and in 1535, with his control of Peru consolidated, he 
established a new capital city now known as Lima. He was assassinated in 
1541 by the son of a long-time associate Diego de Almagro. He was laid to 
rest in the Lima Cathedral. 

The Portuguese in Brazil 

The first Portuguese to reach the Americas were the men accompanying 
Pedro Cabral, who, when he sailed from Portugal in 1500, was headed to 
India. He and his ships were blown off course and ended up on the shores of 
Brazil, which he claimed for the King of Portugal, Manuel I. Cabral named 
the new land “The Island of the True Cross”, but remained in Brazil only 
ten days before heading on to India. Cabral’s claim of Brazil on behalf of the 
Portuguese Crown was facilitated by the Treaty of Tordesillas created by 
Pope Alexander VI in 1494 to settle competing claims to Atlantic discoveries. 
An imaginary line was drawn through the Americas; land west of the line 
went to Spain and east of the line to Portugal. 

Although there were some commonalities between the Spanish experience 
in Mexico and Peru, and the Portuguese experience in Brazil, in the latter 
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Jesuits to improve the treatment and conditions of the indigenous people, 
disease was rampant; the Indians, who had no resistance to smallpox and 
influenza, died in droves. By 1600, Africans, who had developed immunity to 
European diseases over centuries of interaction between the two continents, 
were replacing indigenous peoples as slaves on the sugar plantations. 

3.4.2 The Indians in the Iberian Colonies 
There was a good deal of mistreatment of the American natives by both 

the Spanish and the Portuguese. Because the Catholic Church followed the 
adventurers, it was inevitable that attention would be drawn to the plight 
of the “pobres Indios” (as Bartholomew de las Casas referred to them). De 
las Casas is perhaps the most famous of the reformers, though he came to 
the New World originally as an adventurer and received an encomienda 
from the Spanish Crown. By 1514, however, he had had a change of heart 
and became an advocate for the fair treatment of the natives. Mainly as the 
result of his activities, in 1537, Pope Alexander VI issued a dictate stressing 
that the indigenous people were just that—people—who were not inferior 
to any other group. In 1542, the Spanish Crown issued the New Laws of 
the Indies for the Good Treatment and Preservation of the Indians, which 
limited and eventually ended the encomienda system. 

Similarly, in Brazil, because the expanding plantation economy 
demanded a greater and greater 
supply of cheap labor, slave hunting 
became a lucrative profession. 
As the supply of coastal natives 
depleted, the bandeirantes (or “men 
of the banner”) pushed further west 
and south in search of new sources 
of labor. As was the case in New 
Spain, one of the voices that spoke 
out against the exploitation of the 
natives was that of a Jesuit, Father 
Joseph de Anchieta, who wrote: 

The bandeirantes go into the 

 

 

 

 


 
 

 

 


Figure 3.4 Bartholomew de las Casas |
Bartholomew de las Casas, though originally a
conquistador himself, became an ardent proponent 
of fair treatment of “los pobres Indios” (the poor
Indians) and wrote widely on their behalf. 

Author: Constantino Brumidi 
Source: USCapitol Photostream (Flickr) 

interior and deceive these
people [the Indians], inviting
them to go to the coast, where
they would live in villages as
they did in their present lands…
On arrival at the coast, [the
Portuguese] would divide the
Indians among themselves,
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New France in modern-day Quebec. Champlain was well aware of the value 
of trade with local groups, and established alliances with groups such as the 
Algonquin and the Huron. This alliance shaped local patterns over the long 
term; when Champlain allied himself with the Huron, their long-standing 
enemies, the Iroquois, allied themselves with the British. 

Few French came to the settlement at New France. In part, this was because 
New France was primarily a trading operation rather than a settlement 
intended to establish a new, growing colony. Champlain was very conscious 
of how his traders interacted with local peoples, and established many rules 
of conduct that focused on French traders fitting into indigenous groups. 
For example, traders were to rely on Indians for food and support, living by 
the cultural rules of the local Indians, and were to fully honor indigenous 
ritual and ceremonial practices. Champlain, too, was held to this standard. 
For example, the Huron and other Northeastern groups did not see the 
French/Indian relationship as merely economic; it was a relationship that 
was both economic and political. Champlain found himself drawn into a 
war with the Iroquois after a year of trading with the Huron. The powerful 
local groups were eager to exploit the Europeans and their technology to 
their own ends in their own wars. 

Although the French mission in Canada was primarily economic, they 
did try to Christianize some groups of Indians, most notably the Huron. 
In 1615, the first Jesuits (a monastic order of the Catholic Church) arrived 
in New France to go out among the Indians—particularly the Huron—to 
Christianize them. Over the next fifty years, the Jesuits worked among the 
Huron, learning their language and their culture. The efforts to Christianize 
the Huron were largely unsuccessful, with very few converts: perhaps less 
than ten converts in fifty years. However, The Jesuit experience in Canada 
is very significant as they wrote copious amounts of letters back to the Order 
in France, detailing the practices and beliefs of the Huron. Much of the 
information we have about the Huron and other groups in the Quebec area 
come from these letters. 

3.5.2 The Dutch in the Americas 

The Netherlands won independence from Spain at the end of the European 
Thirty Years’ War. During the war and its aftermath, the Netherlands had 
emerged as the most important trading center in Europe, bringing great 
power and riches to the new nation. The Dutch had a long history in seafaring, 
mapmaking, and boatbuilding, and quickly entered the global spice trade 
competition. In 1602, the Dutch East India Company (DEIC) was founded. 
The DEIC was financed by shares that established the first modern stock 
exchange, making it the first multinational corporation. The company was 
granted a two decade long monopoly to carry out colonial activities in Asia 
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on behalf of the Dutch government. As a result, the DEIC possessed quasi-
governmental powers, including the powers to wage wars, coin money, 
negotiate treaties, and establish colonies. The DEIC also possessed judicial 
powers, and was allowed to imprison and execute convicts. 

The DEIC was by far the most successful European operator in Asian 
trade. They established colonies throughout the Malaccas, including the 
modern-day city of Jakarta, Indonesia. These port colonies allowed them to 
dominate the trade from within. Outside of the spice trade, the DEIC began 
a trade monopoly with Japan in 1640 at the trading post of Dejima, further 
empowering the Netherlands. 

In 1652, the DEIC established an African colony near the Cape of Good 
Hope. The settlement of Cape Town was originally intended to be a way 
station for ships to resupply on the way to and from the Spice Islands. 
Instead, Cape Town quickly transformed into a permanent and growing 
colony known as Cape Colony. It grew into a sizable colony, and became 
one of the most developed European colonies outside of the Americas. 
Dutch farmers displaced local groups such as the pastoralist Khoikhoi. The 
colony’s strategic location meant that almost every ship travelling from 
Europe to Asia stopped in Cape Town to resupply. 

The Dutch were involved in the Americas in two main areas: the Caribbean 
and modern-day New York. By far, the Caribbean was the more important, 
richer area because of its sugar production. In the 1620s and 1630s, large 
fleets employed by the Dutch West Indies Company (DWIC) dominated the 
Caribbean. During these decades, the company was an instrument of war as 
well as a business; it waged war, but tried to turn a profit in the meantime. 
In the 1620s, much of Europe, including the Netherlands, was at war. The 
Republic of the Netherlands set up the DWIC in 1621 primarily to carry this 
European war into the Caribbean through piracy and conquest. 

Much like the Dutch East India Company (DEIC), the DWIC was 
authorized to carry out trade and set up colonies. Unlike the DEIC, the 
DWIC focused on naval and military ambitions. The two companies were 
set up to function in tandem; the state assigned the DWIC a twenty-five 
year monopoly in every territory not given to the DEIC, including the 
Caribbean and the Americas. Like the DEIC, the DWIC’s stock was listed on 
the Amsterdam exchange; this reflects that the Dutch colonial experience 
was primarily an economic one. Through the activities of the DEIC and the 
DWIC, the Netherlands sought to empower their nation through control of 
markets on a global scale, from Indonesia to the Caribbean. 

In 1624, the DWIC launched large-scale attacks in the Caribbean with 
three goals in mind. First, they sought to occupy the rich Portuguese sugar 
plantations in Brazil. Second, they tried to conquer the Portuguese slave­
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trading ports in West Africa, another lucrative trade. Finally, they sought 
to seize the treasure fleets that carried Peruvian and Mexican gold from 
Havana to Seville. 

In all these efforts, the DWIC enjoyed initial victories but later failed. 
The Dutch conquered large parts of Brazil in the early 1630s and captured 
Portuguese slave-trading forts in Africa in the late 1630s. For a brief time, 
the DWIC successfully controlled the international sugar trade and the 
Atlantic slave trade. However in 1645, Portuguese Catholics in Brazil rose 
up in revolt and swept the Protestant Dutch out. While they were busy in 
Brazil, the Dutch were likewise busy in the Caribbean. They plundered 
Spanish merchant shipping, tried to capture the Spanish treasure fleets, 
and ran highly-successful smuggling operations in Spanish ports. The 
Dutch became the economic powerhouse of the Caribbean; the Spanish 
feared them, and English and French colonists often would prefer to trade 
with Dutch merchants (for their prices and reliability) than with their own 
mother countries. The Dutch, in great part because of the success of the 
DWIC, successfully contested Spain’s economic hold over the Caribbean. 
Politically, the Dutch were less successful, able to maintain only six small 
islands of the Lesser Antilles as colonies. 

The greatest economic victory for the Dutch came in 1628 when DWIC 
ships managed to trap the entire Mexican treasure fleet in Matanzas Bay off 
Cuba. They took an enormous treasure in gold, silver, and goods, and the 
company paid its shareholders a cash dividend of seventy percent in 1629. 
Until 1635, the company continued to mount large and costly expeditions 
to pillage Spanish settlements and shipping in the West Indies. Overall, the 
DWIC sent out 800 ships with 67,000 men between 1621 and 1637. But, 
the take was meager, and the shares sank on the Amsterdam exchange. 
However, the company’s attacks, together with those of smaller fleets 
of Dutch, French, and English pirates did succeed in destroying Spanish 
commerce and communications. From 1625 to 1635, the Dutch maritime 
force changed the balance of power in the Caribbean, making it possible for 
Dutch traders to control most of the region’s commerce for decades. 

3.5.3 Before You Move On... 

key Concepts 
Both the French and Dutch provided alternate models of colonial 

control in the Americas. Each of these countries sought to establish a 
foothold in the Americas through trade and commerce. Both sought 
to weaken the Spanish hold on the American hemisphere. After 
experimenting with colonization in Canada, the French attempted to 
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3.6 conclusion 

The significance of the Columbian Exchange and sharing of foordways, 
technology, and cultures that resulted can hardly be overstated. A profound 
economic revolution shook both hemispheres as the influx of crops, diseases, 
animals, and metals to the Old World changed patterns of trade, the medium 
of exchange, and ideas about the use and distribution of wealth. 

Similarly, traditional ideas about the structure and inhabitants of the 
world were put aside as Europeans and Indians encountered and ultimately 
learned from each other. Ethnicities were intertwined as Europeans, 
Africans, Indians, and their children created a complicated hierarchy of 
race and class in the colonies. The world had been turned upside down, 
perhaps for the first, if not for the last, time 

Early Spanish control of the American hemisphere developed from their 
discovery and early exploration of the region. During this period, Spanish 
experiences largely defined early European knowledge of the Americas and 
Indians. The Spanish empire grew rapidly in the first fifty years after 1492, 
expanding throughout the Caribbean, Mesoamerica, and the Andes. Time 
and distance constituted two of the main challenges the Spanish faced in 
establishing and administering their new empires. The distance between 
Europe and the Americas played a very important role in shaping colonial 
administration as well as patterns and methods of imperial control for not 
only the Spanish, but for all European imperial powers. 

Over the next hundred years, the Portuguese, the French, and the Dutch 
established colonies and areas of influence in the American hemisphere. 
Portugal, like Spain, sought to establish a settlement colony, controlled 
through direct political ties. Culturally, religiously, and socially, the 
colonies were deeply influenced by the mother country. The French and 
Dutch established very different models of colonial control. Both of these 
nations took a primarily economic interest in the American hemisphere, 
and shaped their models of colonial administration largely around trade. 
Politically, both France and the Netherlands wanted to weaken the Iberian 
hold on the Americas. The French actively contested Spanish power by 
trying to establish a colony in Spanish Florida. The Dutch were much less 
overt in their contestation of Iberian power; instead of establishing large, 
rival colonies, they concentrated on economically weakening the Spanish 
through piracy. 
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3.7 CrItICal  thInkInG ExErCISES 

• Read the description of the experience of the Spanish adventurer 
Lope de Aguirre. Compare this narrative to the letter written by 
Philip II just two years later. How did the views of these two men 
differ when it came to the Spanish enterprise in the New World? 
Why do you think the accounts differed as much as they did? 

The treatment of the Indians by the Europeans and such systems 
as the encomienda was decried by reformers beginning in the early 
sixteenth century. What reforms were advocated by Bartholomew 
de las Casas? Was reform even possible, or were the conditions 
imposed on the Natives inevitable? 

Which of the crops that originated in the New World had the 
greatest impact on the diets of those in the Old World of Europe, 
Asia, and Africa? Support your answer with specifics on nutrition, 
degree of spread, and ease of growing. 

• 

• 
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3.8 kEy tErmS 

• Arab Middle Men  

Atahualpa   

Audiencia 

Aztecs/Mexica  

Bandeirantes  

Jacques Cartier  

Bartholomew de las Casas  

Samuel de Champlain  

Christopher Columbus 

Corregidores  

Hernán Cortés 

Councils of the Indies 

Donatários  

Dutch West Indies Company  

Encomienda/encomenderos 

Francisco Pizarro  

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• René Goulaine de 
Laudonnière 

Haciendas  • 

• Huguenots  

Huitzilopochtli  

Huron 

Incas  

Jesuit  

La Malinche 

Pedro Menéndez de Avilés 

Mestizos  

Mita  

Moctezuma; Tenochtitlan  

Nahuatl  

Quetzalcoatl 

Quinto  

Repartimiento 

Senado da Câmara  

Senhores de engenho  

The Columbian Exchange  

Treaty of Tordesillas 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

•

• 
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3.9 ChrOnOlOGy 
The following chronology is a list of important dates and events associated 

with this chapter. 

Date Event 

1477-1495 Reign of John II of Portugal 

1492-1503 Voyages of Columbus to the New World 

1492 
Columbian Exchange began between the Old and New 

Worlds 

1494 Treaty of Toresillas signed 

1500 Pedro Cabral claimed Brazil for the Portuguese Crown 

1518 Atlantic Slave Trade began 

1516-1556 
Reign of Charles I of Spain (Charles V of the Holy Roman 

Empire) 

1534-1542 Voyages of Jacques Cartier 

1564 
René Goulaine de Laudonnière led French expedition to 

Florida, founded Fort Caroline 

1565 Pedro Menéndez de Avilés founded St. Augustine, invaded 
and destroyed Fort Caroline settlement 

1556-1598 Reign of Philip II of Spain 

1519 Spanish Conquest of Tenochtitlan began 

1520 La Noche Triste 

1521 Tenochtitlan fell to the Spanish under Cortés 

1533 Pizarro conquered the Inca Empire 

1552 
De Las Casas publishes A Short Account of the History of 

the Indies 

1588 The Spanish Armada sailed against England 

1603 Samuel de Champlain established the colony of New France 

1615 First Jesuits arrived in New France 

1624 Dutch West India Company active in Caribbean 

1628 Dutch West India Company captured Spanish treasure fleet 
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4.1 IntrODUCtIOn 
Beginning in the late sixteenth century, England joined Spain and France in 

creating a new world empire. Late getting started, when compared to Spain, 
the English monarchy sponsored its first voyages to the New World under 
Sir Humphrey Gilbert in the 1580s. The first English colony was established 
on Roanoke Island in 1585 but was unsuccessful; what happened to its 
residents has remained one of history’s great mysteries. However, beginning 
in 1607, a series of permanent colonies were created under the English flag: 
Jamestown, Plymouth, Massachusetts Bay, Maryland, Connecticut, Rhode 
Island, and New Hampshire. 

The English came to the New World for many different reasons. Some, like 
the founders of Jamestown, were adventurers, looking for gold and hoping 
not to escape from English ideals, but rather to transplant those ideals to 
a new setting. Historian Daniel Boorstin comments that in the early years 
of Virginia it was not uncommon “to rise into the ranks of gentry,” a goal 
of those who “believed in the mystique of the gentleman.”1 On the other 
hand, the New England colonies and Maryland were founded by religious 
groups, Pilgrims and Puritans in the case of New England, and in Maryland, 
Catholics, all escaping persecution in the mother country. 

When England became embroiled in a civil war and experienced a period 
of republicanism in the 1640s and 1650s, colonizing efforts stopped; they 
began again when Charles II was restored to the throne in 1660. Most of the 
English colonies established between 1585 and 1642 were created by charter 
companies like the London and Plymouth Companies; only Maryland was 
proprietary. 

The purpose of this chapter is to trace English colonization from the late 
sixteenth century until the outbreak of Civil War in England in 1642, and to 
follow the evolution of these colonies through the late seventeenth century. 

4.1.1 learning Outcomes 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to: 
• Explain the motivation of the English Crown in sponsoring voyages of 

exploration and colonization in the new world. 
• Compare the attitudes of Maryland and New England on the issue of 

religious toleration and explain why the Calverts of Maryland did not 
want an official church for their colony. 
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• Analyze the differences in how the New England and Chesapeake Bay 
colonists interacted with the Indians. 

• Explain the motivation behind the creation of Roanoke Island and 
analyze why Roanoke Island became a “lost colony.” 

• Analyze the impact of Puritanism, including Puritan ideas about 
predestination and election, on the government and social structure of 
the Massachusetts Bay Colony and Plymouth, and on the development 
of other colonies such as Rhode Island and Connecticut; compare the 
relationship of religion and society in Massachusetts Bay to that in 
Rhode Island. 

• Analyze the differences in political, social, and religious structure 
between the New England and Chesapeake Bay colonies. 

• Analyze sources of labor in the English colonies created before 1642 
and explain why slavery did not become as entrenched in New England 
as it did in the Chesapeake colonies. 

• Explain the major issues that affected the New England and 
Chesapeake colonies through the end of the seventeenth century. 
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4.2 thE EnGlISh BaCkGrOUnD 
In 1559, Elizabeth I, youngest daughter of Henry VIII, continued the 

Tudor dynasty when she came to the throne of England. In a departure from 
the strict Catholicism of her sister Mary I, known as Bloody Mary, Elizabeth 
reflected the atmosphere of religious diversity in which she had been raised. 
Many historians believe that Elizabeth’s mother, Anne Boleyn, secretly 
followed the theology of Martin Luther, who broke with the Catholic Church 
in the late 1510s and early 1520s. 

When Elizabeth took the throne, hundreds of Protestants, called the 
“Marian exiles” because they had left England when Mary intensified 
persecution of non-Catholics, began to return to their motherland. These 
exiles had spent the 1550s mainly in Geneva, which was under the control 
of the ardent Protestant John Calvin; he was more radical in his intent on 
spreading Protestantism than Martin Luther had been. The Marian exiles 
were determined to force a religious settlement on Elizabeth that would take 
the Church of England away from the Catholicism of Mary toward a more 
Protestant, or Calvinist, direction. Most of the exiles believed that all people 
were predestined to be saved or damned no matter what they did during their 
lifetimes, a concept known as predestination; that individuals did not have 
free will and could not earn salvation through “good works,” which was an 
important Catholic doctrine; that priests should be allowed to marry; and, 
finally, that “high church,” or Catholic, practices like genuflecting, the use 
of incense and music during services, and kneeling at the sign of the cross, 
should be removed from church liturgy. According to these Protestants, 
priests were simply men; they could not perform miracles, could not convert 
bread into wine during the Eucharist, and should be allowed to marry. All of 
these reforms, of course, were anathema to orthodox Catholics. 

In 1559, pressured by the Marian exiles, Elizabeth agreed to the 
“Settlement” whose prayer book is still the basis of the Anglican worship in 
the twenty-first century. The Settlement consisted of two acts of Parliament, 
one that conferred upon Elizabeth the title Supreme Head of the Church, 
and a second, the Act of Uniformity, which created the Anglican prayer 
book and defined the new Church of England. The theology reflected in 
the Book of Common Prayer is a compromise between the Catholicism of 
Henry VIII, Mary I, and Calvinist theology; it is neither strictly Catholic 
nor strictly Calvinist. Stained glass, genuflecting, incense, and music during 
church services were remnants of Catholic liturgy; on the other hand, 
priests were allowed to marry, they were not thought to be able to perform 
miracles during the Eucharist or Lord’s Supper, free will was modified, and 
predestination was given credence. In typical Anglican fashion, the Articles 
of Religion stressed the importance of the two Protestant sacraments of 
baptism and communion, but also acknowledged the remaining five Catholic 
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 the Squirrel vanished beneath the waves. The Golden Hind survived and 
brought the news back to England that the Squirrel went down with all 
hands, including Sir Humphrey. 

Gilbert’s dream of a North American English colony was shared by his 
half-brother, Sir Walter Raleigh who, like Gilbert, was an adventurer and 
man of many talents. Raleigh was one of the most famous courtiers of 
Queen Elizabeth I, who made him a man of wealth and power. Raleigh was 
a devout Protestant who harbored a great enmity for Catholic Spain. He also 
saw Spain as a source of wealth for anyone with ships capable of attacking 
the Spanish galleons filled with gold that sailed across the Atlantic from 
the Americas to Spain. When sailors such as Raleigh attacked a Spanish 
fleet, they brought wealth back for England, keeping a large portion for 
themselves. These privateers enriched themselves and England at Spanish 
expense. They also kept England diplomatically neutral, as they did not sail 
Crown ships but their own. 

To be an effective base, an English settlement would have to be close 
enough to the Spanish territory to target their ships bound for Spain yet 
far enough away not to be easily found and destroyed by the Spanish. 
Newfoundland was too far north for Raleigh’s purpose, and, by this time, 
the Spanish had been in Florida for almost twenty years. Both the French 
and Spanish had attempted to colonize Florida: the French at Fort Caroline 
in 1564, and the Spanish at St. Augustine in 1565. The Spanish destroyed 
Fort Caroline and drove the French out of Florida, securing their hold on 
the area. Raleigh opted to look for a location in the mid-Atlantic coastal 
area, far enough south to avoid harsh winters, yet far enough north to stay 
clear of Spanish warships. 

Raleigh took great care in planning his first exploratory expedition. 
He did not go himself; instead, in 1584, he sent two ships, one large, one 
smaller, with a company of soldiers, good provisions, and experienced 
officers and crews. The ships arrived safely at the Outer Banks in July, 
1584. The region was inhabited by two main groups of Indians, each 
united by a common language group yet divided into several tribes. The 
first, the Algonquian, were the larger of the two and occupied the Outer 
Banks and nearby mainland coast; the other, the Iroquois, lived further 
inland. It should be noted that the Iroquois tribe, which gave its name to 
the Iroquois group, did not inhabit the Carolinas; rather, they lived to the 
northeast. The Algonquian first encountered by the English were friendly 
and curious about the visitors. They had seen ships sail by before and may 
have seen Europeans up close or at least heard stories of them from the 
Indians further south. These were probably the first English they had met. 
Raleigh’s men had brought items for trade: beads and metal items such 
as plates and cooking pots. Other Indians were not friendly, however, and 
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killed some of Raleigh’s men. Nevertheless, the English had found a good 
place for a settlement, Roanoke Island, which was inhabited by the Secotan, 
an Algonquian tribe; it had plentiful wildlife, fresh water, and other natural 
resources to help a new colony survive. Raleigh’s men returned to England, 
taking with them two Indians, Manteo and Wanchese, with the encouraging 
report of what they had found. 

Raleigh had not been idle while his ships were away. He had been working 
to raise the funds for his main expedition, one that would actually create 
a permanent English settlement in North America. For this expedition, 
Raleigh outfitted a small fleet of ships. He had intended to lead the voyage 
himself, but Elizabeth I would not allow it. Instead, Sir Richard Grenville, 
Raleigh’s cousin, sailed with the fleet and 600 men on April 9, 1585; the 
ships were soon beset by storms. Grenville on the Tiger, the largest ship 
in the fleet, lost contact with the other ships, the Roebuck, the Lion, the 
Elizabeth, and the Dorothy. One of their smaller boats was lost as well. The 
Tiger made its way to the closest port on Puerto Rico and was soon joined 
by the Elizabeth. While waiting for the rest of his fleet, Grenville managed 
to capture a couple of small Spanish ships and build a new boat. Having no 
sign of the rest of his missing ships, he sailed on for Roanoke Island with 
his new fleet. 

Near Roanoke Island, the Outer Banks mark the edge of a shallow area 
of water along the mid-Atlantic coast. Large ships could sail up to the 
eastern side of the banks, but could get caught trying to cross to the western 
side and the shallow waterway separating the banks from the mainland. 
Vessels with shallow drafts could easily sail the sounds between the banks 
and the mainland. Later, when charted by the English, English pirates and 
privateers would find the area useful for avoiding their pursuers. At the 

time Grenville arrived, the channels 
were still largely uncharted, except 
for what Raleigh’s earlier expedition 
had learned. After a good voyage 
from Puerto Rico, the Tiger ran 
aground trying to cross over to the 
western side. Some provisions were 
lost, damaged by incoming seawater. 
They managed to save the Tiger. 
Better news awaited Grenville: both 
the Roebuck and the Dorothy had 
made the crossing successfully. 

Grenville took time to explore 
further inland, traveling to different 
towns of the Secotan. The Indian 

figure 4.1 Secotan Ceremony | John White 
was famous for his paintings of scenes of life in the 
colonies; this one depicts a Secotan ceremony. 

Author: John White 
Source: Library of Congress 
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reception of the English was generally good. It was during this time of 
exploration that John White made his famous illustrations of the Indians. 
The English wanted to learn more about the lands further inland and, 
in particular, if they held gold, silver, and other riches. One unpleasant 
incident occurred: a silver cup belonging to the English was apparently 
stolen. They accused the Indians of one village of taking it, and, when it was 
not returned, they burned the village and its fields. This act foreshadowed 
the troubled relations ahead. Meanwhile, a site on the north end of Roanoke 
Island, not accessible by large ships, was chosen for the colony. The supplies 
had to be off-loaded from the ships onto the smaller boats, then taken to 
the settlement site and there again unloaded. The area was cleared of trees 
and underbrush, and fortifications were constructed, as well as a dock for 
the small boats, housing, storerooms, workshops, and enclosures for the 
livestock. 

Grenville returned to England knowing that he had not been able to 
fully provision the colonists he left behind under the command of Ralph 
Lane. He did, however, believe that another fleet would arrive soon with 
more provisions and colonists. On his way home, he tried his luck again 
at attacking Spanish shipping and claimed a great prize: a Spanish ship 
carrying a fortune in gold and other items, more than most people of the day 
could even imagine. Grenville returned home to England with his Spanish 
prize to find the mood in England was very negative towards Spain. The 
conflict had been brewing for some time and had worsened while Grenville 
was away, so his arrival with a Spanish fortune made him a hero. 

The Spanish issue caused the next fleet scheduled to arrive at Roanoke 
to be diverted, though Grenville had no way of knowing this when he left 
the little colony. Without the anticipated supplies, Lane and his men had to 
rely on trade with the local Secotan for food. For their part, the Secotan had 
welcomed the English but had not expected them to be such a burden. As 
with any hunter-gatherers and farmers, the Secotan food supply depended 
greatly on the seasons of the year. In the fall and winter, they relied on what 
they had harvested and had to keep the supply safe to feed all of their people 
throughout the winter until spring, when hunting, fishing, and gathering 
would improve. In addition to the burden the English were placing on the 
Secotan food supplies, the English had also unwittingly brought disease. 
Where the English visited, death often followed for the Indians, who had 
no immunity against such European diseases as smallpox and influenza. 
Neither the Secotan nor the English understood the cause of illness, but 
there was no doubt that a connection existed between the English presence 
and the sickness and death of the natives. 

The Secotan chief, Wingina, also known as Pemisapan, moved to protect 
his people. He had all their stores hidden so there would be nothing available 
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when the English came to trade. Relations between the two groups continued 
to deteriorate. Pemisapan plotted against the English, and Lane learned 
of it. He decided on a bold plan to attack Pemisapan before Pemisapan 
could attack the English. The final result was several murdered Secotan. 
Pemisapan himself was beheaded. 

The English had won, but at what cost? Their strategy of reacting strongly 
against any opposition caused the Indians to fear them, which was the 
English goal. However, they also caused the Indians to fear their continued 
presence. Some tribes remained friendly to the English, yet their list of 
enemies was growing. The colony site on Roanoke was no longer viable. 
Lane planned to relocate when, quite unexpectedly, an English fleet arrived. 

Sir Francis Drake, another of Raleigh’s famous seafaring relations, had 
the largest English fleet to date to reach North America. He arrived off 
shore in June, 1586. Lane asked Drake for aide, and Drake obliged with 
supplies, boats, and a small ship capable of sailing the shallows—in short, 
everything Lane needed to keep his small group going until Raleigh could 
reinforce the settlement. Lane was prepared to remain when suddenly a 
massive hurricane hit. The storm battered the fleet of over twenty ships 
anchored offshore. The little ship that Drake gave to Lane was lost along 
with some of Lane’s men. Huge hailstones rained down, endangering the 
sailors and damaging their ships. For three days, the fleet and Lane’s group 
were battered by what may have been one of the worst hurricanes to hit the 
Carolinas. When it ended, so too did Lane’s resolve to stay. He and his men 
sailed back to England with Drake. 

Lane had no way of knowing that supplies from Raleigh and more 
colonists with Grenville were finally on their way; otherwise, he would not 
have left. Similarly, the supply ship and Grenville had no way of knowing 
Lane had abandoned Roanoke, much less why. Both arrived to find Roanoke 
deserted. Grenville had brought 200 men but chose to leave only fifteen at 
Roanoke and took the rest back to England. Lane’s departure from Roanoke 
was a setback for Raleigh, but valuable lessons had been learned. The men 
left with Lane at Roanoke had been soldiers, not farmers, and certainly 
not diplomats. They were ill-suited for the type of work needed to help the 
colony succeed. They could not farm, and they were easily offended and 
prone to violence. Their attitude did not help create good relations with the 
Indians. The lack of dependably scheduled support ships also had hurt the 
colony. The location, while protected from attack by large ships, was not 
suited to serve as a port of call for the English fleet, as visiting ships had to 
anchor two miles offshore. There, they were unprotected from storms and 
clearly visible to any other passing ships, including those of the Spanish 
who would find them easy targets in such an exposed anchorage. 
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Lane believed from his explorations that a better option lay to the north, 
the Chesapeake Bay. He had traveled there while exploring the region and 
found that it had harbors that would accommodate the largest English 
ships. The Indians there were Algonquian and friendly, and the area was 
quite attractive. Also, from the stories the Indians told him, he thought it 
might be an even better place to use as a base for a search for gold in the 
interior. Unfortunately, Lane, having abandoned Roanoke, was out of favor 
and would not be allowed to go on the next expedition. 

The honor of leading Raleigh’s next voyage fell to John White, an artist, 
map maker, explorer, and friend of Raleigh’s. White had sailed with Grenville 
on the first attempt to settle Roanoke in 1585. White’s famous watercolors 
of the Indians, their villages, and the flora and fauna of the region were 
the first images the English public was able to see of North America. The 
plan was for White to lead this new group, first to Roanoke to check on the 
garrison left by Drake and to return the two Indians from that area. Then, 
White was to move onto Chesapeake to establish his colony away from the 
troubles of Roanoke. White’s fleet, led by the Lion, left Plymouth, England 
on May 8, 1587. It sailed towards the Canary Islands for the first leg of the 
journey. Because of ocean currents and winds, ships did not simply sail off 
in a straight line from point A to point B; rather, they followed a route. 
From England to the Canaries, across to the West Indies, and then up along 
the Atlantic seaboard was the favored passage of the time. The route took 
advantage of the currents off the coast of West Africa at the Canaries that 
drove ships and hurricanes westward to the Caribbean. As predictable as 
any crossing of the Atlantic could be, it provided points where the ships 
could resupply and, if they became separated in the crossing, regroup. 

The trip had been well planned, but even the best of plans can fail. Before 
leaving England, some of the colonists abandoned the project. White and 
Raleigh had recruited families for this attempt, not just soldiers and sailors 
as in the past. The colonists had skills that would help a colony survive 
on its own and not be dependent on its Indian neighbors. As the time for 
departure had approached, some of these colonists backed out, leaving White 
with fewer people than expected to make the crossing. Then, before even 
reaching the Canaries, storms separated one of the ships carrying supplies 
and colonists, further reducing their numbers. Even so, White pressed on. 

By June, White had reached the Indies where more problems befell 
the little group. Several became ill from fruit and water consumed on the 
first island they reached. While no fatalities occurred, the incident added 
to the unpleasant conditions aboard the ships. White was in charge of the 
colonists; a pilot named Fernandes was in charge of the ship. Fernandes, 
a trusted sailor for Raleigh, had been the pilot for each expedition to the 
Outer Banks. He had clashed with Grenville in the past, and now he and 
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White found themselves at odds. Throughout the voyage, Fernandes made 
decisions that were not in the best interests of the colony, including a critical 
error when he did not take the time to acquire more provisions while in 
the Indies. White could only object and argue; he was powerless to force 
Fernandes to follow his orders. When they reached Roanoke late in July, 
again Fernandes acted on his own. He decided to leave White there and 
not go on to the Chesapeake Bay. He did not simply abandon White; he 
unloaded the colonists and their baggage and provisions and gave White a 
ship small enough to sail around the shallow sounds and large enough to 
sail up to the Chesapeake Bay. 

Only one of the fifteen men of Drake’s garrison was found, and he was 
long dead, leaving nothing but bleached bones. The settlement area for 
Lane’s colonists was still there and usable, although in need of repair. The 
colonists set to work, clearing the settlement area again and expanding it for 
new houses suitable for families to use. White’s luck seemed to be improving 
when the ship that had been lost before they reached the Canaries arrived 
undamaged with all hands, colonists, and provisions intact. White now had 
a colony of one hundred and eighteen men, women, and children. 

White also had a coastline inhabited by angry Indians. He had left 
Roanoke before the relations between the Secotan and Lane’s men had 
fallen apart. He wasn’t there when Lane’s men attacked and murdered the 
Secotan chief, Wingina Pemisapan. How much White knew of the enmity 
that Lane and his men had created with the Secotan is unknown. White’s 
first real indication of the anger of the Secotan was the brutal murder of one 
of the colonists, George Howe. He was shot repeatedly with arrows, and his 
skull was caved in. 

Manteo, one of the Croatoan Indians who had first traveled to England 
with Grenville and returned home with White, learned from his people that 
Drake’s garrison and the attack on Howe was the work of the Secotan. White, 
when at Roanoke, previously had had good relations with the Secotan; 
among those who stood for his portraits was their chief Wingina, later 
murdered by Lane. White had hoped to be able to reestablish those happy 
relations even after the murder of Howe. However, when the Secotan did 
not respond to his offer of peace, White chose to follow the English pattern 
and launched an attack against a Secotan village in the dark. The attack was 
a dismal failure, as the Secotan of that village, realizing that the English 
would almost certainly attack them in retaliation for the murder of Howe, 
had left. The Algonquian, such as the Secotan, used a multi-village system, 
moving from one to another as need arose due to the seasons, farming, or 
threats. If there was a problem at one village, the inhabitants would simply 
leave. When White and his men arrived at the village at night, they did 
not realize that the Indians they found there were Croatoan, his allies, not 
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Secotan, his enemies; both were Algonquian and had the same language 
and dress. As soon as they realized their mistake, the English halted their 
attack, but they had already injured and killed some of the Croatoan. The 
Croatoan had realized the Secotan would leave and not be able to take all of 
their food stores with them. The Croatoan, short on corn, had therefore sent 
a foraging party to the abandoned village. This incident was the second time 
the English has accidentally attacked their greatest allies. 

Among the families at the colony was that of John White. His daughter 
and her husband, Eleanor and Ananias Dare, came as part of the colony, 
even though Eleanor was pregnant. On August 18, she gave birth to the 
first English child born in the New World, a daughter, Virginia Dare. The 
colonists were adapting well, but the threat posed by the Secotan, in addition 
to all the other problems of settling at Roanoke, reaffirmed for White the 
need to move the colony. At the same time, someone needed to return to 
England to convince Raleigh to send support as soon as possible. White 
had tried to find someone willing to sail for England amongst his colonists; 
they, in turn, were quite determined that White himself should go. With 
great misgivings, he agreed. Before his departure, White and the colonists 
agreed on a sign that they would leave behind in the event the colonists 
left Roanoke before White returned. The colonists would carve the name 
of their intended destination on a tree. White then sailed for England in 
the small ship. His trip was very difficult, and White nearly perished. After 
several weeks, he arrived in London at the worst possible time to ask for aide. 
The situation with the Spanish had reached the point of war, and all forces, 
including Sir Walter Raleigh, were committed to the protection of England. 
Still, Raleigh did try to send a support fleet. The situation with the Spanish 
interfered with the plans, as Raleigh’s ships were ordered to support Drake 
in defending England from invasion and not sail for Roanoke. A couple of 
smaller ships were found and prepared, and White was able to sail on them 
in April, 1588, but the captain of one chose to play the pirate, endangering 
his ship and crew, resulting in White and many others being injured; the 
chance to reach Roanoke was lost. 

Unbeknownst to the English, the Spanish had been searching for the 
settlement at Roanoke, whose precise location was a mystery. So determined 
were they to find the English that they sailed all the way up the Atlantic 
coast. In June, 1588 as they were passing the Outer Banks on the voyage 
back south, they found evidence of the English settlement but recorded 
no sign of any Englishmen. White had been absent from his colony for ten 
months, during which time the colony had no contact with England. 

Meanwhile, White continued tirelessly to look for ships for his return 
voyage to Roanoke. At every turn, his efforts were thwarted, and he was 
unable to sail for Roanoke until 1590; in August, three years after leaving, 
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White finally reached Roanoke. He found the settlement abandoned and 
overgrown. The ship and boats that had been left were gone. He found his 
own belongings packed in chests which had clearly been there for a good 
length of time and had been ransacked. Evidence showed signs of Indians 
but not of an attack. The letters CRO were carved in one place, the word 
“Croatoan” in another. If the colonists had left under duress, they were to 
carve a cross as a sign, along with the name of their intended destination. 
No crosses were to be seen. White and company returned to their ship with 
the intent to sail for Croatoan but were forced off by storms. Rather than 
waiting them out, the ship sailed away, eventually returning to England 
without ever making it back to Croatoan. 

John White was never again able to return to the Outer Banks to search for 
his family and colony, the Lost Colony of history. Sir Walter Raleigh allowed 
his personal life to nearly destroy him, marrying a lady of the queen without 
obtaining the queen’s permission. He lost the favor of Queen Elizabeth I 
and was arrested and imprisoned in the Tower of London. Because of his 
imprisonment, his loss of favor, and other distractions, Raleigh did not send 
anyone to the Outer Banks until 1603. With the death of Queen Elizabeth I 
and the accession of King James I, Raleigh’s fortunes took a permanent turn 
for the worse, and he lost his hold on colonization in North America. 

No other English ships of the time made any effort to look for the colony, 
as the goal of English ships sailing along the North American coast was 
to hunt Spanish ships further south, rather than to search for missing 
Englishmen in the mid-Atlantic. Not until a new colony was established in 
the Chesapeake at Jamestown would any English take up a serious search 
for their lost countrymen. None would ever be found, although stories of 
blond haired, light-eyed Indians would persist. 

4.3.1 Before You Move On... 

key Concepts 
The attempts to colonize Roanoke Island provided painful lessons 

for the English which contributed to the success of later colonies. 
Diplomacy and consistency were needed to build goodwill with the 
natives. Too often individual English jeopardized relations with the 
natives through rash and violent acts. The Indians also learned painful 
lessons, discovering that the English were at best a mixed blessing. 
Disease brought by the English devastated the native population, 
contributing to the downward spiral in relations. In the end, the colony 
at Roanoke failed due to English mistakes. The fate of the Lost Colony 
remains unknown to this day. We can surmise that they did at first go 
to the Croatoan village, but what happened beyond that and why they 
left is unknown. 
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4.4.1 The Powhatan 

The Indians of the region, the Powhatan, whose dialect was Algonquian, 
knew of Englishmen from their neighbors to the south. Unlike the Indians 
at Roanoke, the Powhatan were a large and powerful confederation of many 
tribes under one chief, Wahunsonacock, also known as Powhatan. The 
territory he commanded stretched from the Potomac in the north to the 
Carolinas in the south, from the Chesapeake Bay inland to the west of what 
is now Richmond. Essentially, he controlled Tidewater Virginia in what 
has been described as the largest Indian confederation in North American 
history. 

The Powhatan dressed much like their neighbors to the south, wearing 
skins for clothes, copper and pearls for jewelry. After settling the colonists 
at Jamestown, named in honor of James I, Newport set about exploring 
the rivers. He discovered the Fall Line at the site of modern Richmond, 
Virginia, a natural boundary making the transition from the Tidewater to 
the Piedmont regions of the territory. Boulders and rapids mark the end of 
the English portion of the river. The colonists met both friendly and hostile 
Indians and survived an early attack on their settlement that served to 
convince them of the need to invest time and effort in strong defenses. The 
colonists finished the construction of a three-sided fort in just a month. A 
trench was dug, into which logs were stood upright and packed tight to form 
a wall. At each corner, the walls were formed into a circular area, with extra 
earth packed in to create a mount for watchmen and a cannon. 

When Captain Newport sailed back to London in June, he left what 
he thought was a colony sufficiently established to survive until further 
support arrived. By August, however, the colony was beginning to struggle. 
The location of the settlement was within the tidal area of the James River 
where salt water from the Chesapeake Bay mixed with fresh water from the 
James, creating a brackish brew not fit to drink. While the marsh waters 
were not good for humans, they proved a breeding ground for mosquitoes. 
The colony had been well provisioned, but the food stores spoiled due to 
the heat, leaving the colonists short on supplies and desperately in need of 
new sources of food. The final misery was the local Indians who continually 
harassed the colonists whenever the opportunity arose to inflict injury and 
death. While Newport was in London spreading the news of the success and 
great potential future success of the Jamestown settlement, over half the 
colonists died. 

The sweltering summer heat had caused the colonists to suffer terribly. 
Fall provided a moment of relief before winter came, bringing to those down 
on the river a peculiar type of cold, a damp chill that went right through the 
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body of anyone not properly attired, leaving them feeling as if they would 
never be warm again. Such was the miserable state of the last forty-some 
members of the colony in the winter of 1607. 

4.4.2 Captain John Smith 

The one bright spot of these members, Captain John Smith, was also one 
of the most troublesome. Of all the colonists, John Smith became the most 
famous in no small measure due to his own self-promotion: he wrote one 
of the first celebrity autobiographies. It helped the English learn of the New 
World and its inhabitants and of the fabulously adventurous life of John 
Smith. Smith’s stories seemed too fantastic to be true, yet apparently they 
were. As much as he may have been a braggart, Smith truly was a most 
resourceful man of action. Unfortunately his bravado drove most people, 
including the colonists and the colony leaders, to distraction. Part of the 
problem was that Smith was a commoner while the leaders were gentlemen, 
that is, his social betters. Such details meant little to the gruff Smith, who 
had been a soldier of fortune and valued mettle over social status. He had 
been arrested and kept locked below decks for much of the crossing, as he 
argued with and angered the leaders. Once the ship landed, he was released 
and continued to annoy those around him. With the colonists facing the real 
possibility of starvation and Smith eager for action, the colony leaders chose 
to set Smith on the Indians. 

The Famous Rescue of Smith by Pocahontas 

Smith was charged with exploring the surrounding area, seeking a passage 
to the Pacific and, as always, gold. He traded with the Indians for provisions 
and, because of this, was successful in learning the area and the ways of the 
natives, including their language. He did hear stories of a western sea and 
of mountains and gold. He also heard about the Roanoke colony and was 
given reason to believe there had been survivors who were still alive. Most 
important to the Jamestown colonists, he also brought back enough food to 
help keep the colony alive. At the same time, Smith was careful to nurture 
the image of the English as being strong and interested in trade for trade’s 
sake, rather than out of any need. Smith did not want to give an impression 
of weakness that might tempt the Indians to an all-out attack. He was 
cautious as well with what he revealed about the English plans, taking care 
not to provoke violence. Those who traveled with Smith were not always so 
cautious. 

While exploring the Chickahominy River, Smith left some men in a boat 
and went on shore. While he was gone, the men spotted women along the 
banks. The colony had no women. The Indian women appeared friendly, so 
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the men left the boat against Smith’s instructions and walked into a trap. 
Men from the Chickahominy tribe had been waiting under cover to ambush 
Smith’s men, who ran to escape. One, George Cassen, did not make it. He 
was not killed outright; instead, he was tied between stakes, stripped naked, 
and tortured to death. Excoriated by seashells, head first, his skin was then 
burned before his eyes; his fingers were cut off piece by piece, and his 
entrails taken out and burned. Still alive, Cassen was then burned to death. 
This death demonstrated sheer brutality on par with the English form of 
execution of being drawn and quartered. Smith and the men he had brought 
to shore heard sounds of alarm, but too late to rescue Cassen. They ran, 
trying to save themselves, and were cut down by the Indians. Smith alone 
of the English on shore survived; he slipped and fell and was captured. Not 
wanting to meet the same fate as Cassen, Smith resolved to convince the 
Indians that he was an important man, a useful man to know. He showed 
them a compass, made a grand speech, and somehow was spared for the 
moment and taken on a long journey to meet the great chief, Powhatan. 

What happened next became the most famous story of Jamestown and 
perhaps all of Colonial American history. The account of the story comes 
from Smith himself who wrote of it in his autobiography. Some historians 
doubt any of it is true; others believe Smith embellished the details, and 
others that, while Smith gave the facts correctly, he did not understand the 
significance of the event. This seems doubtful as Smith, of all the English, 

was the most widely traveled, had 
the most experience in meeting 
different cultures, and seems to have 
been the most successful in dealing 
with Powhatan. How could he have 
done so well if he was unable to 
grasp the meaning of his encounter 
with Powhatan and his daughter? 
According to Smith, although he was 
held captive, he was treated well. 
Various important men questioned 
him, but he was not abused. He was 
brought before Powhatan, who was 
seated as a king with attendants 
surrounding him. Among the crowd 
was a little girl, roughly ten years 
old and quite pretty: Matoaka, more 
commonly known as Pocahontas. 
Large stones were brought out and 
placed before Powhatan, then Smith 
was brought forward and made 

Figure 4.2 Rebecca Rolfe | Formerly known 
as Matoaka and Pocahontas, Rebecca Rolfe is shown 
in this portrait as she appeared in London in 1616, 
based on an engraving by Simon van de Passe. 

Author: Flickr User “cliff1066” 
Source: Flickr 
license: CC-BY 2.0 
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to place his head on one of them. He expected to be executed by having 
his skull crushed between the stones. Suddenly, Pocahontas flew forward 
and threw herself protectively over Smith, wrapping her arms about him 
and putting her own head over his. Was this a spontaneous act on the 
part of Pocahontas? Probably not. Smith was spared, given a new name, 
Nantaquoud, and adopted by Powhatan. Before setting him free, Powhatan 
even offered him lands. Such adoptions of foreigners were not uncommon 
among Indians. Adoptions could strengthen tribes and cement diplomatic 
relations. Powhatan knew Smith was a man of some importance among the 
English, and Smith had put on a good show. Even when faced with having 
his skull crushed, he acted with bravery, a trait admired by the Indians. 
Smith was returned to Jamestown with an escort. He had promised cannons 
to Powhatan but had no intention of delivering them. He showed his escort 
the largest cannons there, which were far too heavy for the Indians to move, 
so they agreed to accept other gifts for Powhatan instead. 

With his troubles with the Indians over for the present, Smith was 
immediately faced with a crisis at Jamestown. The colony had been reduced 
to just forty cold, sick, and miserable men, who wanted to go home. Newport 
was overdue on his promised return; he had left one ship, the Discovery, 
to be used as needed, but had not intended it to be used to sail home to 
England. Smith forced the men to stay by threatening to fire on them and 
the ship. They, in turn, voted to have Smith arrested on charges of being 
responsible for the deaths of his men and then executed. For the second 
time in days, Smith’s life was endangered, this time by his own people. At 
the eleventh hour, Captain Newport returned to take charge on New Year’s 
Day, 1608. Newport had sailed accompanied by another ship, as was typical 
of the English, but the ships had become separated, and the other was not 
seen again. Still, Newport’s arrival meant Smith was saved and so too was 
the colony, thanks to Newport’s supplies and fresh colonists. 

The fortunes of the colony turned again when a fire consumed the fort, 
destroying all the buildings and supplies. All the new colonists had were the 
materials they had brought with them that had not yet been unloaded from 
the ship; all the old colonists had was whatever they were wearing when 
the fire broke out. This devastating turn of events made the colonists even 
more dependent on trade with the natives. Powhatan sent food for Smith 
and Newport, as Smith had told Powhatan that Newport was his important 
“father.” The corn and venison eased the hunger of the colonists. At the same 
time, Smith noted a rate of inflation in trade with the Indians; they were 
still being generous, but were expecting more in return. Jamestown did not 
have an unlimited supply of trade goods, as they all had to be brought from 
England. The Indians were experienced in barter and quickly learned the 
value of their own goods to the English. 

Page | 130 Page | 130 



Page | 131 

Chapter Four: The Establishment of English Colonies 

Page | 131 

 

4.4.3 All That Glitters 

Captain Newport was faced with multiple problems; the first was that the 
colony leadership fell into petty squabbles when he was not around to lead 
them; the second was that he had told the Virginia Company in London and 
others that he had found gold in Virginia. In some areas of Virginia, the 
creeks appeared to be running in golden channels, but it was only pyrite or 
Fool’s Gold. Newport had been misled by the golden glitter and now was 
more pressed than ever to find real gold as quickly as possible. 

To this end, the colonists spent the early part of 1608 in the hunt for 
gold. They packed the pyrite-laden dirt onto Newport’s ship in the vain 
hope that it would prove to be gold laced. Meanwhile, nothing necessary 
for the survival of the colony was being done: the fort’s defenses were not 
being strengthened, the region was not being fully explored, the colonists 
were not producing enough of their own food to be self-sustaining, and the 
sailors, waiting to return to England, had to survive on the colony’s food and 
water supplies, further straining the colony’s resources. 

Smith blamed Newport for the colony’s focus on gold, not appreciating the 
position Newport was in with the financial backers of the colony who would 
not be impressed by anything other than gold, no matter how many other 
valuable resources Virginia was found to have. Newport further created 
problems for Smith by trading most generously with Powhatan on terms 
that could not, and, in Smith’s view should not, be sustained. Newport had 
even given swords to Powhatan, and Smith was utterly opposed to giving 
weapons to the Indians. To Newport, it was good business, as he wanted 
Powhatan to see the English as useful neighbors and allies. He and Powhatan 
had even exchanged boys as a gesture of goodwill and so that each boy could 
learn the other people’s ways and then be of service to their own people in 
understanding the other, an ancient practice of diplomacy. 

Newport finally sailed for England on a ship loaded with worthless, 
sparkling dirt and the two leaders of the group who had tried to take the 
Discovery. Smith was left to deal with the rest of the gentlemen who resented 
his manner and with Indians who had been given elevated expectations of 
what the English would deliver. Powhatan appreciated the usefulness of the 
English metal weapons and tools. Smith was not as willing as Newport to 
give them up, so the Indians resorted to stealing what they wanted. Smith 
was not foolish or murderous enough to react to the thievery with the type 
of violence that Lane had used at Roanoke. Instead, the colonists tried to 
stay alert and drive away potential thieves without offending Powhatan. 

The ship that had accompanied Newport and was thought lost suddenly 
appeared in April, a few days after Newport sailed for England. The 
commander, Thomas Nelson, had sailed south to winter after losing 

Page | 131 Page | 131 



Page | 132 

Chapter Four: The Establishment of English Colonies 

Page | 132 

 

contact with Newport. He brought more supplies and colonists, and things 
seemed to be looking up for the colony, although the conflicts amongst the 
leaders continued to cause problems within, and the Indian’s continued 
harassment from without. Nelson did not linger. After off-loading the 
supplies and colonists, he stayed long enough to take on a shipment of cedar 
before setting sail for England. For the Virginia Company, Jamestown was 
becoming something of a disappointment. 

4.4.4 John Ratcliffe’s Bad Decisions 

In Jamestown, John Ratcliffe, president of the colony, behaved in ways 
which had a negative impact on the colony. Early in the venture, Smith had 
supported Ratcliffe for leadership, but he had since been disappointed by 
Ratcliffe’s actions and interests. In Smith’s absence, Ratcliffe had ordered 
the colonists to build him a home outside the fort. The idea was foolhardy, 
since a house outside the fort would be a natural target for the Indians. 
While working on Ratcliffe’s home, the colonists were unable to do the work 
needed for the colony’s maintenance. With the summer months, the weather 
had again turned unpleasantly hot and muggy, and many of the colonists 
were ill. Worst of all, Ratcliffe was consuming much-needed provisions. 
When Smith returned, Ratcliffe was removed from office. Smith, although 
recovering from a severe stingray attack and still unwell, was voted in as 
president. Whatever the state of Ratcliffe’s mind, he made his situation all 
the worse by attempting mutiny. 

Smith allowed the colonists much-needed time to recover before setting 
them to the task of preparing the colony for winter. Newport returned in 
September to find Smith in charge and the colonists hard at work. Newport 
brought another load of supplies as well as colonists, including the first 
married couple, and the first single Englishwoman in North America, Anne 
Burras. Anne was a maid to Mistress Forest, the first married Englishwoman 
in North America. Anne became the first Englishwoman to marry in North 
America, accepting the proposal of John Layton, one of the first colonists. 

As 1608 drew to a close, Jamestown continued to survive but was not 
making a profit. As a business, it was operating at a loss. The Virginia 
Company of London was formed to invest in the colonization of Virginia 
with the goal of making a profit for its investors. By 1608, the investors had 
paid money to send ship after ship of colonists and supplies to Jamestown 
and had received back only two shiploads of dirt and one shipload of cedar. 
Rather than making a return on their investments, they were losing money. 
The company renewed Newport’s instructions: to find gold, the lost colony, or 
the west passage to the Pacific was to be the colony’s priority. Also, Newport 
was to crown Powhatan. Smith considered everything the company wanted 
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as a general waste of valuable time that the colonists needed to spend on 
producing food. Over Smith’s objections, Newport followed directions. He 
presented a crown to Powhatan, along with many other gifts. He sailed 
up the James to the Fall Line and then led an expedition overland from 
there and found neither gold nor a passage west. Smith had been right; 
Newport had wasted time, and, worse, he had managed to offend Powhatan. 
Suddenly, their unstable relations now reached a new low. The colony still 
could not produce its own food, and none was to be had from Powhatan’s 
people. Smith blamed Newport, who had disregarded Smith’s warnings and 
placed the colony in jeopardy. 

Smith made finding food a priority. He sailed to various villages only to 
find that Powhatan had forbidden them to give the English food. Smith, 
desperate, would set fire to one of the village buildings and threaten to burn 
the rest if food was not brought. The tough tactics worked to an extent; the 
Indians did give him food, but not very much. They said, and it may well have 
been true, that they were also low on food. Powhatan had become convinced 
that the English intended to settle permanently in his lands, which he did 
not want. Smith’s concern was the survival of Jamestown, which needed 
food and security. The situation remained uneasy as Smith tried to acquire 
more food and Powhatan tried to find a way to murder Smith. Powhatan’s 
daughter, Pocahontas, saved Smith with a warning, at great personal risk. 
Smith did not realize that Powhatan too had his informants: Germans who 
had arrived with Newport’s last visit. Smith had sent them to the Powhatan 
to build them an English-style house at Powhatan’s request. When the 
Germans saw how much better life was in an Indian village than in the 
English fort of Jamestown, they asked to stay and serve Powhatan, who 
accepted at once. 

Smith returned to Jamestown with the provisions he had managed to 
gather only to find that what food stores had been at the fort had been ruined 
by rats during his absence. Now the official leader of the colony, Smith set 
about making the changes he thought necessary for its survival. He ordered 
everyone, including the gentlemen, to work. Those who did not work would 
not eat. He secured a good supply of fresh water by having a well dug. He 
had new housing built. He increased security and put men to work farming. 
Some Indians who remained captives at the fort taught the English how 
to plant, and things were finally moving in the right direction. Smith was 
dealing well with both Indians and English, but he had not conquered the 
rats. Once again, they destroyed the colony’s stores. Smith managed the 
crisis well and kept everyone alive but noted that there was a group that 
still would do little except feed themselves, a fact which clearly tried his 
patience. 

When he lost all patience with Newport and the unreasonable monetary 
expectations of the Virginia Company, Smith wrote a strong and clear 
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complaint to which the Virginia Company listened. They re-wrote the 
colony charter: no longer would a council and president control Jamestown; 
instead, a governor would be selected. Rather than sending ships with a 
hundred or fewer colonists at a time, several hundred would be sent together. 
Instead of the useless gentlemen that Smith considered to be a plague, the 
company would send working class men, skilled laborers and artisans well 
supplied. The new ideas were good; however, the execution of the new plan 
was poor. No official notice of the plan was sent to Smith. He did hear some 
general information from an English captain who sailed to the area. The 
company, though, told him nothing. On August 11, four large ships sailed 
up the James River. They carried a new shipment of colonists, hundreds 
of them, not just men but families with children, at the worst time of year. 
They brought the news that even more were on their way following close 
behind; they had been a fleet of eight and were separated in a storm. Several 
of the people Smith loathed the most, including Ratcliffe, were amongst the 
colonists. The ensuing conflict was immediate; Smith’s old rivals wanted to 
enforce the new charter; however, the new charter was on a ship that had 
not arrived, leaving Smith to insist that the original charter was still in force. 

4.4.5 Farewell John Smith 

Smith won because the charter was lost with the ship that carried it. 
The new governor had also not arrived, so Smith remained in charge. He 
divided the colonists and sent them out to new settlements, as he had done 
previously to deal with the food shortage. The uneasy peace between the 
English and the Indians depended on both sides demonstrating restraint. 
The new gentlemen did not seem to understand this need and soon came into 
conflict with different tribes, attacking them with little or no provocation, 
destroying their homes and the very crops that the English had depended 
on as an object of trade; they robbed and killed them yet did not understand 
how these actions constituted a problem. They were worse than Lane’s men 
at Roanoke. One group even managed to take a grandson of Powhatan, and, 
while he was restrained, shot him, claiming it was an accident. The young 
man’s father, Parahunt, launched a constant attack against the men. Smith 
tried to negotiate a peace and was successful in dealing with the Indians, 
but he could do nothing with the English who would not listen to him. As 
Smith sailed back down river to Jamestown, something ignited the black 
powder he carried in a bag for his gun. It exploded, causing terrible burns to 
his body and leaving Smith in agony. His injury was so severe as to be life-
threatening. Also, his office as president was coming to an end one way or 
another, as his term was expiring even without the new charter. Moreover, 
ships were on hand preparing to return to England. These combined factors 
convinced Smith to return home. The English told the Indians, including 
Pocahontas, that Smith was dead. 
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dared not venture out to see how things were at Jamestown. Percy criticized 
the Point Comfort leaders, but the truth was they had succeeded where he 
had miserably failed. 

4.4.7 Bermuda and the lost Ship, the Sea Venture 

The lost ship that had been carrying the new charter and new governor 
was the Sea Venture, and its colonists and crew had ended up on Bermuda, 
a paradisiacal island at that time. Here they had food, both meat and fruits, 
plenty of fresh water, and a wonderful, gentle climate. Many did not want to 
leave this pleasant island. Their ship, the Sea Venture, had been damaged in 
the storm that had separated the fleet. When the storm cleared, the captain, 
Admiral Sir George Somers, looked for land. He spotted Bermuda, which 
would be a safe place away from the Spanish, and ran the Sea Venture 
aground on a reef off the island’s coast. Under the circumstances, it was 
probably the best that Somers could do, as his ship was in need of repairs, 
so they could not stay out to sea; Bermuda was surrounded by shallows 
and reefs and rocks, giving the ship no good approach. Somers managed to 
ground Sea Venture in such a way that all passengers and crew were safely 
transported to the island and the ship itself could be salvaged, to a certain 
extent. She could not be saved, but from her and the islands forests, new, 
smaller ships, the Deliverance and the Patience, were crafted. Shipbuilding 
was time-consuming under ideal circumstances. For Somers and company to 
craft two sea-worthy ships on a desert island was a remarkable achievement. 
As the work progressed, the members of the little company became attached 
to their island home. Remaining was not an option because of their duty to 
the Jamestown colony, so they set sail for Jamestown on May 10, 1610. 

4.4.8 Governors Gates and West 

They arrived less than two weeks later at Point Comfort, where they found 
Percy, who told them things were bad at Jamestown. Somers sailed on, 
reaching the fort on May 24. The fort appeared abandoned. The buildings 
and fortifications were damaged, the gates were down, and there were no 
people or even sounds of them. A bell was sounded to see if that would 
draw anyone out. Somers and the new governor Sir Thomas Gates might 
well wished it had not worked. The people who emerged from the buildings 
were emaciated beyond belief, appearing more dead than alive. Their bodies 
starved, their minds unwell, they came out and approached the new arrivals. 
Governor Gates faced his first crisis as the new governor of Jamestown. He 
had had no way of knowing what was happening at the colony while he was 
on Bermuda. Even if he had known, he could not have imagined the utter 
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misery he found at Jamestown. While he took time to assess the situation, 
he could find no solution other than to remove all of the residents, load 
them on the four ships that had been left there, and find ways to return 
them to England. 

Gates, Somers, and the Sea Venture had been believed lost by the 
other captains in their fleet, and that loss had been reported back to the 
company in England. They had therefore selected a new governor, Thomas 
West, Lord De La Warr, and gave him a small fleet with new colonists, and 
good provisions before sending him off to Jamestown. He arrived at Point 
Comfort just as Gates was sailing down the James to leave Virginia. West 
stopped Gates and turned the little fleet around. He had no intention of 
abandoning Jamestown. Gates and West, with their combined ships, sailed 
back to the fort. West was disgusted, believing and declaring that much of 
the problem had been the fault of the lazy colonists. Taking a page from 
John Smith, West ordered the fort to be cleaned and made it clear that the 
colonists would work. In addition to dealing with the foul conditions at 
Jamestown, he also focused on food, even though he had brought plentiful 
supplies. West had no intention of falling into the trap of his predecessors 
by waiting for a crisis to come along. 

In dealing with Jamestown and the colonists, West had been clear-headed 
and decisive, if a bit stern. Dealing with the Indians was another matter. 
The careful balance John Smith had managed to maintain would be forever 
destroyed by the actions of the colony’s new leadership which repeated the 
mistakes made by the Roanoke Colony of escalating violence instead of 
using diplomacy. 

West, having been informed of the Indians’ equipment thefts, sent a 
message to Powhatan demanding the return of the items and any prisoners 
Powhatan might be holding. Powhatan did not agree, so West chose Percy, 
who had been responsible for the Starving Time, to lead a punitive raid. The 
two men then for no particular reason chose to target the Paspahegh tribe, 
but Percy set out with a group of men. They came to the village at night and 
killed several men, burned the village to the ground and captured the queen, 
as the Europeans referred to her, and her children. In apparent bloodlust, 
Percy and his men took the queen and her children back to their ship where 
they tied the children up and threw them overboard, using them for target 
practice as they drowned. The queen watched as her children died. Percy 
took the queen back to West. What exactly happened next is a matter of 
debate. According to Percy, West wanted nothing to do with the queen and 
was angered that she was alive and ordered Percy to burn her at the stake. 
Others doubt West ordered this; still, she was taken ashore and executed. 

The new leadership of the colony did not last. Somers had sailed off to 
Bermuda to attempt to capture hogs for the colony. He died of unknown 
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causes, possibly a heart attack, on the island. West, who was to have been 
the governor for life, left after a few months with failing health in 1611. Sir 
Thomas Dale came to Jamestown in 1611 and soon earned a reputation 
for tough leadership. Dale, a soldier by trade and nature, instituted a rigid 
discipline on the fort. The effect on morale was not good, but the colonists 
worked hard, behaved themselves, and kept their homes and fort clean. 
To do otherwise could mean a whipping or even execution under Dale’s 
command. Dale established new settlements to expand the colony and had 
no more qualms about killing the Indians than he did about killing his fellow 
English. 

In 1613, Sir Samuel Argall, a ship’s captain who had assisted the colony, 
discovered the location of Pocahontas, still the favorite daughter of Powhatan. 
He persuaded a local chief to help him capture her and lured her onto his 
ship. Argall took Pocahontas to Jamestown where Dale received her in a fair 
and friendly manner; the English thought they would now have bargaining 
power over Powhatan. In order to recover Pocahontas, Powhatan would 
have to release his captives and return the stolen tools and weapons. They 
were wrong. They kept Pocahontas at the settlement at Henricus where she 
was instructed by a minister in Christianity and where she also met John 
Rolfe, one of the colonists from the Sea Venture. Rolfe had lost his newborn 
daughter on Bermuda and his wife either on Bermuda, in Virginia, or on 
the journey between the two. At some point, a romance developed between 
Rolfe and Pocahontas. When Dale took Pocahontas to a village where he 
expected to find Powhatan in hopes of exchanging her for his stolen goods, 
Powhatan was not there, and Pocahontas declared to the Indians present 
that she wanted to stay with the English. Everyone, especially the English, 
was shocked. Whatever her motives, Pocahontas had freed her father from 
any obligation to agree to the demands of the English. She returned to 
Rolfe and her Christian lessons. She eventually was baptized as Rebecca, 
and she and Rolfe married in 1614 with the approval of Powhatan. Some 
of Pocahontas’s family attended the service. The wedding achieved peace. 
Once more the English and Powhatan traded goods instead of lead shot and 
arrows. 

John Rolfe was also important to the colony, and indeed to American 
History, for something else entirely: he pioneered tobacco cultivation in 
Virginia. The Virginia Indians had a variety of tobacco they used which was 
hardy but rough to smoke. Rolfe knew of a smoother, sweeter variety from 
the Caribbean. He had managed to secure some seeds and began growing 
his Orinoco tobacco at Jamestown. By 1612, he was planting it at Varina, 
up the river from Jamestown. The peace with Powhatan made it possible 
to create plantations where tobacco could be grown in large quantities. 
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Tobacco production became the golden resource the Virginia Company had 
so long desired as tobacco use became phenomenally popular in England 
and Europe. 

In the summer of 1616, Pocahontas sailed with her husband, son, and 
some Powhatan warriors to England where she was admired by many. They 
stayed in England until 1617. John Smith came to visit her, and she was 
very moved by seeing him again, especially as she had thought him dead. 
As the Rolfes prepared to sail for Virginia, she became suddenly ill and died 
within a few hours. Rolfe buried her in England, left his son Thomas there 
to be raised, and returned to Virginia and tobacco. Powhatan outlived his 
beloved daughter by roughly a year and died in 1618. He had given up trying 
to push the English out, which was why there was such a period of peace. 
His brother, however, still did not accept the English presence. 

4.4.9 House of Burgesses 

During this period of peace, the tobacco boom led to a rapid expansion 
of the colony. New settlements had to be established. At the same time, 
the colonists’ drive to produce tobacco to the exclusion of most everything 
else, even such necessary things as growing food, was a cause of concern. 
Colonists were given grants of land and plantations were established. With 
the growth of the colony came a need for a new form of government, one 
that would allow the colonists a place to voice their concerns and to work 
for the common good. On July 30, 1619, the House of Burgesses met for the 
first time at Jamestown. This was the first group of elected representatives 
to meet in the New World. The timing of the first meeting was unfortunate 
as an outbreak of malaria forced the session to be cut short, but it is still 
significant for establishing the model that would be followed for the next 24 
years. 

In 1618, a leadership change at the Virginia Company brought important 
changes for the colony. The Virginia Company still wanted a profitable 
colony and one attractive to colonists. To this end they sent a new governor, 
Sir George Yeardley, with a document that is known as the “Instructions 
to George Yeardley” and also as the “Great Charter” which instructed him 
to make significant changes to the colony’s government. These changes 
included an end to martial law and the establishment of English Common 
Law, an administrative reorganization, and new rules concerning colonists’ 
transportation and owning of land in what would become known as the 
Headright System, as well as the establishment of a General Assembly that 
would include members elected to represent the citizens from the various 
areas of the colony. All free men could vote. Each settlement area was 
allowed to elect two representatives, called Burgesses. A burgess is simply 
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life. Indians also could be enslaved. In 1667, it was declared that baptism 
would not result in freedom; for some colonists, owning a Christian was, if 
not a sin, at least considered wrong. So, if slaves were baptized, the owner 
might set them free rather than own Christians. From that point on, laws 
concerning slaves were passed more frequently and became harsher; it was 
not, for example, a crime to accidentally kill a slave through punishment. It 
became natural for blacks to be slaves for life. A child of a female slave was 
automatically born a slave. Other laws included the following: thirty lashes 
to punish a slave who threatened a Christian in 1680, harsh punishments for 
slaves who ran away, separate slave laws, a white who married a slave would 
be banished, and, by 1705, slaves were to be considered real estate and, if 
unruly, could be dismembered. In 1625, twenty-three blacks appeared in 
Virginia. Seventy-five years later, their number increased to over 16,000, a 
change spurred by the need for cheap labor to grow tobacco. 

4.4.11 Opechancanough 

Sometime after the death of Powhatan, his brother Opechancanough 
became the chief, or werowance, of the Powhatan. He had never stopped 
wanting to rid Virginia of the English. He had been the first chief to hold 
John Smith captive. He had seen how the English grew in numbers and 
knew that if they were not eliminated while they were still relatively few, 
they would continue to spread out into Indian territories. Therefore, on 
March 22, 1622, Opechancanough launched the largest coordinated attack 
against the English. Nearly 400 English were killed all across the colony. 
If Opechancanough’s security had been better, so that his plans had not 
leaked, the death toll would have been much higher. 

For the English, who had had peace for so long, the event was a terrible 
shock. The newer colonists probably could not understand why the attack 
happened; only the oldest colonists would know of all the events that had 
happened over the years that fueled Opechancanough’s anger, but they did 
not care about Opechancanough’s motives. Opechancanough had expected 
the English to leave after the devastating attack. They did not. Instead, they 
wrought revenge, poisoning a couple hundred Indians in an attempt to kill 
Opechancanough, who escaped. 

For King James I, the massacre was an adequate excuse to rid the Crown 
of the annoyance the Virginia Company had become. On May 24, 1624, he 
declared the company to be dissolved, and Virginia became a royal colony. 
The war continued fitfully between the Powhatan and the English until a 
treaty was signed in 1632. Opechancanough’s feelings had not changed; 
he still wanted to eliminate the English, but with their superior weapons, 
they were able to inflict great damage, despite Opechancanough’s superior 
numbers. 
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Berkeley would be ousted as governor by the Puritan regime in England, 
only to be recalled for one more term in office (1660-1677). The major 
crisis of his second term would be the last he would handle, Bacon’s 
Rebellion. Berkeley’s native-friendly and planter-friendly policies created 
an atmosphere of unrest among the poorer members of the colony even as 
the colony as a whole continued to prosper and grow. 

In 1699, the capital was moved from Jamestown to the Middle Plantation, 
or Williamsburg, a place more centrally located in the colony, as the English 
had moved steadily west. The Jamestown fort itself would fall into ruin 
and eventually be lost, only to be rediscovered in modern times thanks to 
archeologists. Williamsburg would become a jewel of a colonial capitol, with 
the College of William and Mary and many fine shops reflecting the change 
in the colony brought on by the prosperity based on tobacco. With the 
struggle for survival over, the wealthier colonists could concentrate on finer 
things, such as fashion, food, and leisure activities. For the slaves, physical 
conditions improved, but their slavery remained. For the Indian tribes on 
tribal lands, they would see a steady encroachment of colonists and their 
land holdings would be largely lost along with their language and much of 
their culture. 

4.4.12 Before You Move On... 

key Concepts 
The English arrived at Jamestown with the goals of finding gold, a 
passage west to the Pacific, and the Lost Colony. They found none of 
these things. Their colony did well when well led and barely survived 
when its leadership was lacking. John Smith was best able to deal with 
the Powhatan Indians; most of the other English leaders of Jamestown 
repeated the mistakes of the Roanoke Colony in their Indian relations 
by acting with violence rather than diplomacy. A headright system was 
established to encourage immigration to the colony. The colony was 
established to make money for the investors of the Virginia Company 
but failed to do so until John Rolfe cultivated tobacco. Tobacco became 
the major cash crop of the colony and required land and labor to 
produce. Tobacco was so profitable a crop that vast amounts of land 
were cultivated for it, requiring an enormous labor force, more than 
could be provided by indentured servants. This need resulted in the 
development of a plantation system and the encouragement of the 
slave trade. Jamestown was the first successful English colony in 
North America, but its success resulted in the devastation of the native 
population. The natives were destroyed over the decades of contact with 
the English through disease and violent conflict. The once-powerful 
Powhatan Confederacy was reduced to almost nothing after forty years 
of contact with the English. The first legislature in the New World was 
established at Jamestown. 

Page | 146 Page | 146 Page | 146 





Page | 148 

Chapter Four: The Establishment of English Colonies 

Page | 148 

 

Baron in turn had the right to sell 
land to aristocrats as he saw fit, thus 
creating a landed aristocracy class 
for the colony. Maryland became the 
first proprietary English colony in 
North America. 

Leonard Calvert, the younger
brother of Cecilius, was appointed 
the governor of the new colony and 
set sail with three hundred colonists 
on two ships, the Ark and the Dove. 
They arrived at St. Mary’s, Maryland 
on March 27, 1634. The first group 
of colonists was composed of both 

 

Catholics, including Jesuit priests, and Protestants. Of the thirteen original 
colonies, Maryland had one of the most progressive governments in terms 
of religious freedom and its treatment of Indians. It guaranteed religious 
freedom to all Christians and treated Indians as persons, including paying 
for their land. In 1642, the first Africans arrived. Lord Baltimore intended 
Maryland to be a tobacco growing state, so a labor force was needed, and 
indentured servants were the norm at that time. The Africans arrived as 
slaves, but the Marylanders balked at enslaving Christians, so, if Africans 
were willing to be baptized, they could well be set free, an outcome which 
would create a financial loss to their owners. Laws were eventually enacted 
to protect the rights of slave owners, just as there were laws to protect the 
rights of those who had indentured servants. 

The site of St. Mary’s had been a village belonging to the Yaocomico Indians, 
one of the many Algonquian language tribes found in the Chesapeake region. 
Calvert purchased the village area to found his capital city and made great 
efforts to remain on good terms with the Indians of the colony. Like other 
Algonquian speakers of the region, the Yaocomico wore deerskin robes 
with shells and feather decorations. They painted and tattooed themselves, 
perhaps in a style like that depicted in White’s portraits of the Secotan from 
the Outer Banks further south. The Yaocomico were good friends to the new 
colony. They stayed nearby as their village was transformed to an English 
settlement and helped the colonists adjust to agriculture in their new home. 
Odds are the Yaocomico suffered the same fate as many of the Secotan 
of Roanoke; although they stayed near the English, they did not develop 
immunities to the English diseases. They vanished without further mention 
before 1700. 

Conflicts, of course, occurred; the first was with Virginia, Maryland’s 
neighbor to the south. The colonies share a border marked, for the most part, 

Figure 4.3 St. Mary’s City, Maryland |
Reconstruction of an early house at St. Mary’s. 

Author: Sarah Stierch 
Source:  Flickr 
license: CC BY 2.0 
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by the Potomac River. Virginia, a royal colony by the time of the founding of 
Maryland, had been interested in having the territory added to its own, or, at 
the very least, not having it given to another colony and potential competitor 
in the lucrative tobacco market. A Virginia planter, statesman and Puritan, 
William Clayborne, had set up a trading post and settlement on Kent Island 
in 1631. The island was included in the charter granted to the Calverts for 
Maryland. Clayborne and Virginia protested but lost. The conflict, which 
sometimes included military action and fatalities, continued into the 
1650s. For Virginia and Maryland, the issue was territorial and financial, 
and Virginia would eventually side with Maryland against Clayborne. For 
Clayborne, the issue was financial, religious, and personal, so he did not 
drop the matter willingly. During the same time period, Maryland was at 
war with the Susquehannock, an Iroquoian tribe who earlier had threatened 
the Yaocomico. 

4.5.1 Maryland and the Civil War in England, 1642-1660 

Maryland was also affected by the English Civil War. The Catholic 
Calverts supported King Charles I, while many Protestants in the colony 
and in Virginia, including Clayborne, supported Parliament. A Captain 
Richard Ingle joined with Clayborne, seized St. Mary’s in 1644, and began 
the Plundering Time, in which he rode up and down Maryland, seizing 
whatever he wished, terrorizing the citizens and capturing Jesuits for 
shipment back to England. Only the return of Governor Calvert in 1646 
from his exile in Virginia ended Ingle’s reign of terror. Calvert died the next 
summer, in 1647, passing the governorship to Thomas Greene, one of the 
earliest colonists and a Catholic. 

Tensions were growing between the dominant, minority Catholics and 
the majority Protestants. In 1648, Lord Baltimore appointed William 
Stone as the first Protestant governor. Stone had earlier founded the city of 
Providence on the Severn River as a new home for Puritans leaving Virginia, 
which had become more firmly Anglican under Governor William Berkeley. 

The conflict between Protestants and Catholics led to the Maryland 
Toleration Act of 1649 which guaranteed religious freedom to all Christians. 
This move was a bold one on the part of Maryland and established a very 
liberal religious policy that was not common in the English colonies at the 
time. Maryland, therefore, became an attractive location for those Christians 
who sought freedom from religious persecution. The law was clear, however, 
that it applied only to Christians; anyone who denied the divine nature of 
Christ could be put to death. Although the Toleration Act made Maryland 
an attractive haven for non-Anglican Protestants, it did nothing to assure 
these groups that the Catholic minority controlling the colony were fair 
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to all parties. The impression of favoritism to Catholics continued in the 
minds of many Protestant Marylanders and would continue to break out in 
rebellion until the Calverts’ control of the colony in 1689. 

The Toleration Act became a victim of the English republican period. The 
Calverts’ dream of a haven for Catholics where Protestants and Catholics 
could live together in peace was not shared by the Protestant supporters 
of the Parliament during the war. After the execution of Charles I in 1642, 
Oliver Cromwell, the head of the English republic, gave William Clayborne, 
his loyal supporter, control of Maryland. Clayborne was able to get the 
Maryland Assembly to repeal the Act. Then Clayborne went further and 
succeeded in passing a ban which made it illegal to publicly practice 
Catholicism in a colony founded for Catholics. 

Stone, who had been driven from Maryland by Cromwell’s supporters, 
returned with an army and fought the Battle of the Severn but was defeated 
and captured. One of Stone’s officers, Josiah Fendall, became the next 
governor of Maryland appointed by Lord Baltimore. Lord Baltimore had 
reached an agreement with Cromwell’s government to have his own governor 
once again in charge of his colony. Fendall managed to restore order and 
improve conditions in the colony. Still, the Protestants displayed unrest and 
expressed dissatisfaction with having a Catholic Lord Proprietor. Fendall 
and the Assembly attempted to break away from the Calverts and create a 
new government. The timing was not in Fendall’s favor. Cromwell died in 
1658, and England reverted to a monarchy with the arrival of King Charles 
II, who fully supported Lord Baltimore. Baltimore appointed another of his 
brothers, Philip Calvert, to be the new governor temporarily, and then his 
son and heir, Charles Calvert, arrived to serve as governor in 1661. 

4.5.2 Slavery in maryland 

Maryland had been chartered with the intention of being an agriculturally 
based colony, with tobacco as its primary crop. The conflicts Marylanders 
experienced had been a distraction from that goal. With the political 
horizon finally clearing, the colonists turned their attention once again to 
tobacco and an important issue facing tobacco planters: sources of labor. As 
in Virginia, the need for labor to plant and harvest tobacco had encouraged 
the slave trade and, because the demand for tobacco grew exponentially, 
so too did the need for permanent, inexpensive labor. In 1664, Maryland 
passed the first law to create a permanent slave class. Those who were slaves 
would remain slaves for life, as would those born to slaves; the law applied 
to all slaves, regardless of race. The earliest slaves in Maryland had been 
able to gain their freedom by becoming Christians, but that path to freedom 
was closed in 1671 with another law that allowed slaves to be baptized but 
expressly denied them freedom based on baptism. 
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4.5.3 Maryland in the late Seventeenth Century

 Charles Calvert, who took his position as governor of Maryland in 1661, 
just one year after the Restoration of monarchy in England, was a Catholic, 
as were his father and grandfather; not surprisingly, he gravitated toward 
Catholics in both his private and public life. His first wife was from a 
Catholic family, and the majority of his advisors were Catholic aristocrats. 
His colony’s population, however, was largely Protestant. Because Maryland 
was a proprietary colony, Charles Calvert and the Catholic minority 
controlled the Protestant majority. The Protestants were neither happy nor 
comfortable with this situation. An influx of Protestants, who were largely 
Puritans from Virginia and New England, migrated to the colony. Because 
they were unused to the proprietary form of government, they expected to 
have a greater voice in it than the Calverts were willing to give. 

Maryland did have an Assembly which represented the people, but 
ultimately power was in the hands of the proprietors, who could support or 
deny any decision the Assembly made. To make matters worse, in the 1670s, 
the Calvert family attempted to control the colony by enacting a series of 
laws restricting access to political power. According to these laws, only 
those colonists who owned a significant amount of property, either land or 
personal property, could vote; similarly, only those with large land holdings 
could serve in the Assembly. No average farmer would be able to gain the 
required amount of land to do either. In addition, because the proprietors 
owned the land and had the right to choose to whom it would be sold, many 
of the largest land owners were Catholics. Charles Calvert reduced the size 
of the Assembly by reducing the number of delegates from each part of the 
colony. In this way, the colonists still had representation and the proprietors 
would have fewer elected voices with which to contend and consequently 
fewer opinions opposed to their own. The common people, particularly the 
Protestants, were displeased with these measures. 

In 1675, Cecilius Calvert, the second Lord Baltimore, died; his son and heir 
Charles immediately became the third Lord Baltimore and left Maryland for 
England to deal with his father’s estate and his own inheritance. While Lord 
Baltimore was away in England, rebellion arose again in Maryland, as Lord 
Baltimore was accused of a variety of things that alarmed the British Crown, 
including that of creating religious conflicts with his insistence on religious 
toleration. Lord Baltimore responded, quite accurately, that Maryland did 
not recognize an official church. His own faith was Catholic, but Catholics 
were a minority. Some in Maryland were Anglicans, but the Church of 
England was also in the minority in Maryland. The existence of religious 
tolerance had drawn people of many different Christian denominations to 
settle in Maryland; it would be imprudent, if not impossible, to declare one 
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to be the colony’s official church and have it be accepted by all the people. 
The rebellion was quickly put down, but the issues that led to it continued 
to simmer. 

The year 1681 brought yet another rebellion, this one led by a former 
governor and rebel, Josias Fendall. As with his first rebellion, this one, too, 
was a failure. Fendall’s life was spared once again, though he paid a heavy 
monetary penalty. The people continued to be frustrated by the gap between 
those with power over the colony and the rest of the colonists. Making 
matters worse, the price of tobacco had been dropping and continued to 
drop. Lord Baltimore had considered working with Virginia to raise the 
prices by holding back the crop one year, but refused as it would have been 
too difficult for the small farmers who needed their income to survive. The 
drop in prices of Maryland’s main cash crop created hardship for many of 
the colonists. Lord Baltimore’s failure to find a solution, or to at least find 
a way to help the people through the hard times, added to the resentment 
against him, especially since Calvert and his closest friends and advisors 
were a privileged class who did nothing to hide it. 

William Penn added to Lord Baltimore’s growing list of problems. 
Penn had been granted a charter by King Charles II to found his own 
colony, Pennsylvania, to the north of Maryland. The charter did not define 
Pennsylvania’s borders as well as was needed, and soon there was a conflict 
between Pennsylvania and Maryland. Penn and Lord Baltimore were unable 
to resolve the issue on their own, even though it was simple: Maryland’s 
northern boundary was the 40th parallel; Penn was building his capitol, 
Philadelphia, below the line in Maryland territory and advising farmers in 
the area that they were not in Maryland but Pennsylvania. Lord Baltimore 
once again sailed for England in 1684 in an effort to resolve the issue there. 
Penn was wrong and Lord Baltimore right, but Penn was allowed to keep 
Philadelphia and other lands as well; the issue was not resolved until the 
Mason-Dixon Line was surveyed in the 1760s. 

Charles, Lord Baltimore, never returned to Maryland, where conflict 
seemed to be a constant condition. He had left his nephew, George Talbot, 
in charge in his absence, but before Lord Baltimore had reached England, 
his nephew murdered a royal official. When hearing of the incident, Lord 
Baltimore replaced Talbot with William Joseph, an Irishman and Catholic 
who also did not manage to avoid controversy. Joseph became governor 
of the volatile colony just as the Glorious Revolution was happening in 
England. King Charles II had died and was succeeded by his brother, King 
James II, who had been raised in France and was Catholic. James II was 
deposed in 1688 in what was called the Glorious Revolution, a bloodless 
coup by Protestants who wanted no more Catholic kings. The Protestants, 
in particular the Puritans back in Maryland, felt the same way, and once 
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Government in Plymouth 

Because the settlers at Plymouth had established a town outside of the 
area of the charter they held from the Virginia Company, they had bound 
themselves together with the Mayflower Compact. But this agreement was 
not recognized by the Crown, so they later requested and received a charter 
from the Council for New England in which no specific boundaries were 
mentioned. Thus, to clarify their position, they created a formal structure 
of government. The executive body consisted of a governor and seven 
councilors who were chosen annually by popular vote. A legislative body, the 
“General Court,” was to be a meeting of the forty-one men who had signed 
the Mayflower Compact. As the colony grew in population and area, the 
towns began to send representatives to the meeting of the Court. In 1639, 
the Pilgrims adopted the Fundamentals of Plymouth, which recognized the 
structure that existed and guaranteed habeas corpus (the right to be charged 
upon arrest) and the right to a jury trial. Up until 1660, all adult males 
could vote; after this time, a property qualification was imposed. Plymouth, 
always small in population, was overshadowed by the larger Puritan colony 
of Massachusetts Bay, which absorbed Plymouth in 1691. 

4.6.3 Massachusetts Bay 

Ten years later, a second group of Puritans applied for a charter from 
the Council for New England. Led by a prominent Member of Parliament 
and lawyer, John Winthrop, these Puritans fled persecution in England, 
which had intensified in the 1620s under the increasingly pro-Catholic 
Charles I. Charles began his eleven-year rule without Parliament in 1629. 
Once Parliament was dismissed, Charles and the Archbishop of Canterbury, 
William Laud, began the arbitrary arrest and imprisonment of those who did 
not conform to Anglicanism. The Puritans who followed John Winthrop to 
North America were non-separating Calvinists. Instead of breaking entirely 
with the Church of England, as had been the case with the Pilgrims, they 
intended to “purify” the Church, hence their name of “Puritan.” 

The Massachusetts Bay Charter, which was issued in March, 1629, created 
“the Governor and Company of the Massachusetts-bay in New England.” 
The recipients of the charter were referred to as “freemen;” they were the 
only ones who had a voice in the government. There was a governor, an 
assistant governor, and a legislative body, the General Court, which would 
make laws for the colony. For his part, Charles appears to have been only 
too happy to approve the Puritans’ application to emigrate, as it was easier 
to send them to the New World than to deal with them in England. 

If the motives of the King were somewhat unclear to those at the time, 
no doubt existed about the motives of John Winthrop and his Puritan 
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Puritan Orthodoxy: The Bible Commonwealth 

The Puritans, or Calvinists, who immigrated to Massachusetts Bay followed 
a well-defined theology, differing from the belief system of the Pilgrims 
mainly in their conviction that the Anglican Church could be reformed; 
they intended to encourage this reformation by setting an example for the 
Anglican Church to follow. They were not, like the Pilgrims, Separatists. But 
here the differences ended; they all adopted the teachings of John Calvin. 

One of the most important bases of Calvin’s theology, and a key issue 
for the Puritans, was the doctrine of predestination, which affected how 
they conducted themselves in their daily lives. According to this doctrine, 
humans were sinful and could not be saved by their own actions. Rather, 
salvation came from the unmerited grace of God. A person, at the time of 
birth, was predestined to be either saved or damned, and nothing done in 
life could change this. Nor was there a way for anyone to know for sure 
whether they were saved, that is, among the “elect”; only God knew this. 
However, Puritans did believe that actions might reflect the state of the soul. 
It was thus common for Puritans to look for signs that they themselves, 
or their neighbors and friends, were among the elect. Most Puritans kept 
diaries in which they laboriously listed their activities, looking for any 
indication that pointed to their “election.” And when individuals applied for 
church membership, they must prove to the church council that they had 
experienced a true conversion and thus were one of the elect. 

Congregational Churches of Visible Saints 

The churches that were organized in Massachusetts Bay and Connecticut 
were created by visible saints who covenanted together to form a church 
body. The founders then examined any persons who wanted to join the 
church, taking care that anyone admitted to full membership was most likely 
among the elect. Once the church was established, a pastor was selected 
and other church officers elected. The New England churches were called 
“congregational” because they had no hierarchical structure of bishops 
and archbishops, as in the Anglican Church; rather, each congregation was 
independent of every other congregation. Leading ministers of the Puritan 
establishment in Massachusetts were John Cotton, Richard Mather, 
Increase Mather, and Cotton Mather, all of whom oversaw the social and 
religious activities of the colonists, both saints and strangers. 

4.6.4 life in Puritan New England 

Puritan belief permeated every aspect of life in New England. Because of 
their emphasis on election and calling, the Puritans believed that the Bible 
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misinterpretations of Scripture. He condemned religious persecution by 
political authorities, believed in complete freedom of religion (for all except 
Quakers), and insisted that all laws requiring compulsory attendance at 
church and religious orthodoxy for voting should be done away with. He 
also insisted that the land belonged to the Indians and that the king had had 
no right to grant it to the Massachusetts Bay Company. 

It did not take long for the General Court to act, and in 1635, it instructed 
the church at Salem to dismiss Williams. Williams left Salem with five 
supporters. After spending a long winter in the woods of Massachusetts, he 
finally found friends within the Narragansett tribe. He purchased land from 
them and established Providence in spring, 1636. 

Williams was soon joined by another “heretic” who had been banished 
from the Bay colony: Mrs. Anne Hutchinson. Hutchinson, who had 
been interested in theology and theological debate before coming to 
Massachusetts, was the wife of a wealthy Bostonian and a neighbor of John 
Winthrop. She had been influenced by the sermons of John Cotton, to 
adopt Antinomianism, or the idea that once the doctrine of grace had been 
bestowed upon a person, it could not be removed. Thus the sermons of leading 
Massachusetts divines, including those of her own minister, Reverend John 
Wilson, were theologically unsound because they put too much emphasis 

Figure 4.8 Colony of Connecticut | Map of The Colony of Connecticut, 1636-1776. 

Author: Karl Musser 
Source: Wikimedia Commons 
license: CC BY SA 2.5 
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holding them responsible for the execution of his father in 1642. In 1684, 
he revoked the charter of Massachusetts Bay, making it a royal colony, 
and his brother James II later established the Dominion of New England, 
which was placed under the control of a colonial administrator, Sir Edmund 
Andros, who had, among other things, served as the fourth royal governor 
of New York and was one of the original proprietors of the territory of New 
Hampshire and Maine. 

4.6.9 Before You Move On... 

key Concepts 
The New England colonies were founded between 1620 and 1642, 

when the English Civil War broke out. With the exception of Rhode 
Island, these colonies (Plymouth, Massachusetts Bay, New Haven, 
and Connecticut) were Puritan, and Puritanism influenced their 
social morés, economics, and politics. Believing in a strict adherence 
to Calvinist doctrine and in the value of a society composed solely of 
“visible saints,” most New England colonists, with the exception of 
those in Rhode Island, did not welcome what they called “strangers,” 
nor did they practice toleration in any form. The colony of Rhode 
Island was different, as it was created by refugees from Massachusetts 
who disagreed with Puritan orthodoxy and the chokehold it had on 
Massachusetts society. The laws of this colony reflected religious and 
social toleration. Anne Hutchinson, who had been embroiled in the 
Antinomian Controversy in Massachusetts Bay, and Roger Williams, 
who purchased the land that became Rhode Island from the Indians, 
reflect the independence that could evolve from various ways of 
interpreting Calvinist doctrines. 

Because Puritans believed that anyone seeking membership in 
the church had to have a working knowledge of Scripture, education 
became an important aspect of life in their colonies, as did industry, 
because to be idle was a sign of the devil at work. Unlike the colonies 
in the South, where education was the responsibility of the family, 
New England was seen as the province of the state. While Plymouth 
remained small in population, Massachusetts Bay grew throughout 
the seventeenth  century and became large and prosperous; in 1691 
Massachusetts became a royal colony, absorbing the territories of 
Maine and Plymouth. In the same year, New Hampshire became a 
royal colony, independent of Massachusetts. 

Page | 170 Page | 170 Page | 170 

























Page | 182 

Chapter Four: The Establishment of English Colonies 

4.9  conclusion 

Page | 182 

The year 1660 marks a break between two waves of English colonization. 
Prior to 1640, colonies were created in New England, Virginia, and Maryland. 
For the most part, the colonies established during this period were created 
by charters held indirectly from the Crown. Those that appeared after 
1660 were mainly proprietary, given as grants to the friends of Charles II, 
who was “restored” to the throne in 1660. The late seventeenth century 
witnessed an attempt by the English monarchy to tighten the reins over 
their American colonies, as new Acts of Trade and Navigation were passed 
by Parliament and the Dominion of New England created. When James II 
was overthrown in 1688, a series of revolts in the colonies brought an end 
to such institutions as the Dominion of New England. By the end of the 
century, however, many colonies had lost their charters and became royal 
colonies under the direct control of the Crown. In 1735, the last English 
colony, Georgia, was established as a buffer colony between the American 
colonies and Spanish Florida. 
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4.10 CrItICal  thInkInG ExErCISES 

• John White was put in a terrible position when his colonists asked 
him to leave them and return to England for aide. If you were John 
White, what would you do? 

The Secotan attacked White’s colony because of what had 
happened with Lane’s earlier group. Was there any way for White 
to have prevented the troubles? Was the Secotan’s anger justified? 

Ralph Lane’s legacy at Roanoke was a failed attempt at a colony 
and the lasting enmity of the Secotan towards the English. How 
do you think Lane should have handled the problems with the 
Secotan? 

If you were Powhatan or a Pequot, how would you have reacted to 
the arrival of the English? 

If you were an English citizen in 1606 and had the opportunity to 
be a part of founding Jamestown, would you have done it? 

Why do you think the Narragansett and Mohegan tribes fought 
with the Puritans against fellow Indians, the Pequot? 

Do you think that witchcraft was practiced in Salem Village in 
1692? 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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4.11 kEy tErmS 

• Algonquian 
William Bradford 
Calvert 
Calvinism 
Canary Islands 
Charles I 
Charles II 
Chesapeake Bay 
Chickahominy 
Croatoan 
Oliver Cromwell 
Virginia Dare 
Doctrine of Election 
Sir Francis Drake Elizabeth I 
Elizabethan Settlement 
Fall Line 
Sir Richard Grenville 
Sir Gilbert Humphrey 
Anne Hutchinson 
Iroquoan 
James I 
James II 
James River 
Jamestown 
Long Parliament 
Lord Baltimore 
Manteo 
Marian Exiles 
Massachusetts Bay 
Massasoit 
Mid-Atlantic 
Narragansett 
Captain Christopher Newport 
Opechancanough 
Orinoco 
Outer Banks 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• Parahunt 
Pemisapan 
Pequot War 
Pilgrims 
Plymouth 
Pocahontas 
Point Comfort 
Powhatan 
Praying towns 
Predestination 
Puritans 
Pyrite (Fool’s Gold) 
Qaocomicos 
Sir Walter Raleigh 
Ralph Lane 
Ratcliffe 
Rhode Island 
Roanoke Island 

Roger Williams 
Samoset 
Secotan 
Captain John Smith 
Squanto 
Susquehannocks 
The Mayflower 

The Starving Time 

Varina 
Virginia Company of London 
West Indies 
John White 
John Winthrop 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
•
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
•
• 
•
•
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
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  John Rolfe 

  The Mayflower Compact 

  Tituba 
  Tobacco 

Page | 184 Page | 184 



Page | 185 

Chapter Four: The Establishment of English Colonies 

4.12 ChrOnOlOGy 
The following chronology is a list of important dates and events associated 

with this chapter. 

Date Event 

1158-1603 Reign of Elizabeth I of England 

1578 
Sir Humphrey Gilbert granted the right to colonize North 

America 

1583 Sir Humphrey lost at sea 

1584 
Walter Raleigh’s expedition discovered the Outer Banks and 

Roanoke Island 

1585 
Raleigh’s second expedition under Sir Richard Grenville 

sailed for Roanoke and left a small colony of soldiers under 
Ralph Lane 

1586 
Lane abandoned Roanoke and returned to England with Sir 
Francis Drake, leaving behind a small garrison. Grenville 

arrived, and finding no one, returned to England 

1587 
Raleigh’s third expedition under John White with a colony 
of families landed on Roanoke Island. White returned to 

England for supplies. 

1588 
England defeated the Spanish Armada; Grenville barred 
from sailing to Roanoke; White sailed with a privateer. 

1590 
White reached Roanoke, found sign suggesting that the 

colony moved to Croatan. 

1602 
Raleigh sent an expedition to Outer banks, found no sign of 

“lost” colony. 

1603 
Elizabeth I died; James VI of Scotland (James I of England) 

assumed the throne 

1606 
Virginia Company of London created; Colonizers sent to 

Virginia 

1607 Colonists landed at Jamestown 

1609 Starving Time begans in Jamestown 

1610 
Starving Time ended with more than 80 percent of the 

Jamestown colonists dead. 

1616 Tobacco production began in earnest in Virginia 
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Date Event 

 

1620 Mayflower landed in Plymouth, Massachusetts 

1621 First Thanksgiving celebrated in Plymouth 

1623 
John Mason and John Wheelwright founded Hover, New 

Hampshire 

1625 Charles I assumed English throne 

1629-1640 The Eleven-Year Tyranny 

1630 Arbella landed in Massachusetts Bay 

1631 
William Clayborne of Virginia set up a trading post on Kent 

Island in what would become Maryland territory 

1632 
George Calvert, Baron Baltimore applied for a charter for a 

royal colony at Maryland 

1634 Leonard Calvert, son of George, arrived in Maryland 

1636 Harvard University Founded; Providence, Portsmouth, and 
Hartford, Connecticut founded. 

1637-1638 Pequot War 

1638 New Haven Colony founded 

1639 Fundamental Orders of Connecticut adopted 

1640 “Long” Parliament convened in London 

1641 New Hampshire became part of Massachusetts Bay 

1642 
Old Deluder Satan Law established schools in 
Massachusetts Bay; English Civil War begins 

1643 New England Confederation created 

1660 
The Half Way Covenant adopted by the Massachusetts 
General Court; Charles II restored to English throne 

1663 Albonquin language Bible published in Massachusetts Bay 

1675 
King Philip’s War; Death of Cecilius, 2nd Baron Baltimore; 

Rebellion in Maryland 

1679 
New Hampshire became royal colony, independent of 

Massachusetts Bay 

1681 Rebellion in Maryland 

1684 Dominion of New England created 

1685 
Death of Charles II; James II ascended to the English 

throne 
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5.1 IntrODUCtIOn 
The years between 1640 and 1660 were ones of chaos in England. It was 

in this period that a king, Charles I, was beheaded, and England converted 
into a republic under the leadership of the Puritan Oliver Cromwell. No new 
colonies were founded during this time, though immigrants continued to 
move to already-established colonies. When the son of Charles I, Charles II, 
was “restored” to the throne, he brought with him an interest in colonization 
as well as an elaborate court life and fiscal excesses. Between his succession 
to the throne in 1660 and his death in 1685, Charles rewarded those who 
had been loyal to him and to his father by bestowing upon them grants of 
land in the Americas. During his reign, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Delaware, 
and Carolina were founded as proprietary colonies. Most of the North 
American colonies, including Virginia, Georgia, North and South Carolina, 
Pennsylvania, Maine, Maryland, New York, New Jersey, and Delaware were 
proprietary for at least part of their existence. 

Proprietary colonies were not unlike the fiefdoms of the Middle Ages in 
that the proprietors were the ultimate sources of authority in their respective 
colonies, controlling all actions and institutions of government. In the early 
eighteenth century, Georgia, the last colony to be established, was under the 
control of a Board of Trustees; the trustees envisioned the colony both as a 
buffer between Spanish Florida and the Carolinas and a refuge for English 
debtors. By the early eighteenth century, many of the colonies, including 
those granted to the proprietors, had become Royal Colonies, under the 
direct control of the English Crown. 

5.1.1 learning Outcomes 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to: 
• Analyze the developments in England between the Restoration of Charles 

II in 1660 and the overthrow of James II in the Glorious Revolution of 1688 
and explain why anti-Catholic sentiment played a role seventeenth century 
England 

• Explain and analyze the founding and development of the middle colonies, 
including the motives for settlement and the experience of the colonists. 

• Examine the foundation of the colony of Georgia and explain the ways in 

which its founding and purpose differed from that of most other colonies.
 

• Analyze the motives of those who founded the Carolina colony and explain the 
positions of the Lords Proprietors. 
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5.3 thE CarOlInaS 
Geography played a major role in the development pattern of the Carolinas. 

The area once known as Albemarle, which today is North Carolina, was not 
attractive to English colonists. It had a difficult coastal region featuring large 
swamps and marshlands and lacking natural harbors and rivers providing 
access to the interior, such as were found in Virginia and further south. 
Some Virginians did move south into the area, but more to escape society in 
Virginia where they were viewed as landless misfits than to make a colony 
in Carolina. 

5.3.1 Carolina: The Proprietary Colony of the South 

The earliest English attempt at a colony in Carolina was Roanoke, the lost 
colony which vanished between 1587 and 1590. In 1629, Charles I granted 
a charter for colonization but with little result. Then in 1663 King Charles 
II granted a new charter to eight Lords Proprietors, the Earl of Clarendon, 
the Duke of Albemarle, Lord Craven, Lord Berkeley, the Earl of Shaftesbury, 
Sir George Carteret, Sir William Berkeley, and Sir John Colleton, which 
opened the door for a new attempt. These eight men were given near 
absolute authority in their new colonial territory. As the Lords Proprietors, 
they would be responsible for the colony’s organization and promotion, 
recruitment of colonists, government, and any funding, transportation, and 
supply needs the new colony would have; further, they would receive any 
profits the colony made. They would each be able to pass on their role to 
their heirs. 

5.3.2 The lords Proprietors 

The proprietors, or owners of the colony of Carolina, were mostly Royalists, 
men who had supported the Stuarts before and during the English Civil 
War. They were rewarded for their devotion when Charles II was restored 
in 1660. William Berkeley was the Governor of Virginia; he and Sir George 
Carteret had been Lords Proprietors previously of New Jersey. Sir John 
Colleton had holdings in Barbados and was a member of the Royal African 
Company which was involved in bringing African slaves to the colonies. 
He died in 1666 before seeing a permanent colony established in Carolina. 
Lord Craven was a soldier, patron of the arts, and member of the Royal 
Society. The Earl of Clarendon had been Lord High Chancellor to Charles I 
and was the father-in-law of James, Duke of York, the future James II. The 
Duke of Albemarle had actually been a supporter of Cromwell but threw his 
support behind Charles II once Cromwell was gone. Lord Berkeley, brother 
of Sir William, was a more traditional Royalist, loyal to the Stuarts, and 
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who served as the president of the Council for Foreign Plantations, making 
him quite influential in the colonies. Anthony Ashley-Cooper, the Earl of 
Shaftesbury, like the Earl of Clarendon, had been a supporter of the Puritan 
Oliver Cromwell but came to feel it best to have Charles II on the throne. 
He was very active in the colonization of the Americas, having investments 
in Barbados and Hudson Bay as well as Carolina. Although he supported 
Charles II early on, he ended up dying in exile in Holland because he did not 
agree with some later policies of the king. Like many Protestants, he feared 
the eventual succession of Charles’s brother, James, a devout Catholic. 

The Earl of Shaftesbury’s importance to the colony is indicated by the 
names of the two rivers that meet at Charleston, the Ashley and the Cooper, 
both named after him. He, along with his secretary, philosopher, and 
sometime physician, John Locke, created the “Fundamental Constitutions 
of Carolina,” a document which defined the colony’s government and social 
structure even to the point of creating a perpetual landed aristocracy. The 
Constitutions provided for an unwieldy, multi-layered administrative 
structure that was impractical at best, dysfunctional at worst, and not 
designed to deal with the day to day needs of the colony. It may well be the 
single most ill-advised piece of work ever created by Locke, yet it did have 
one redeeming feature, a provision for religious tolerance uncommon in the 
majority of the colonies. While the Constitutions recognized the Anglican 
Church as the official church of the colony, it specifically called for tolerance 
of other religions, even non-Christian native ones. This religious tolerance 
made Carolina attractive to those outside the mainstream Anglican faith, 
such as other Protestants and Jews. 

5.3.3 The First Colonists at Charles Town 

The first colonists under the new charter set out from England in 1669 for 
Barbados, an island in the Lesser Antilles east of the Caribbean. Barbados 
had been an English colony since 1624. By 1669, opportunities for those 
seeking land were becoming fewer, so several men from Barbados decided 
to try their luck in the new Carolina colony. They brought with them their 
experience in colony building and a belief in slavery as a solution to labor 
problems such as those found on plantations. 

In Carolina, as in other colonies, a man with the proper social status and 
money could acquire a large grant of land, while a man with less money 
and social status but who paid his own way to the colony would receive a 
holding of many acres of land. After a brief stop in Bermuda, the three ships 
transporting the colonists and the men from Barbados made their way to 
the point at which the Ashley and Cooper Rivers join, what is today the 
South Carolina coast. The ships sailed up the Ashley River and established 
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Charles Town in 1670, naming their new home after Charles II. In the first 
few years, the colonists set about building their town, cementing relations 
and trade with the Indians, and working towards making the colony self-
sufficient, a key to survival. For their part, the Lords Proprietors had to keep 
the colony supplied with provisions and new colonists, a job that at first was 
made difficult due to the rumors about Carolina. Attracting and recruiting 
potential colonists could be a competitive business. Someone therefore 
started a rumor which soon spread that Carolina was an unhealthy place to 
live, with the implication that a smart colonist would go elsewhere, say to 
New England. Part of the Proprietors’ job was to squelch such rumors and 
to promote all the benefits of settling in Carolina. 

In 1680, Charles Town, Charleston, was moved to its current location with 
its large natural harbor. In 1686 when the Spanish captured Port Royal, 
a colony further south along the coast, Charleston became an especially 
important seaport as it thence became the southernmost seaport in English 
hands on the continent. Although the new location proved great as a port, 
it was vulnerable to attack from the sea. The Spanish, the French, and even 
pirates all threatened Charleston. The most famous of the pirates to plague 
Charleston’s waters was Edward Teach, also known as Blackbeard. These 
threats led to Charleston’s development as a fortified city. 

5.3.4 Cash Crops 

The earliest exports of Carolina included furs, deerskins, cattle, lumber, 
and the naval stores of turpentine, resin, and pitch, which come from pine 
trees and were needed for the repair and maintenance of the wooden sailing 
ships of the day. These important goods helped to give Carolina a firm 
foundation before the development of its first true cash crop, rice. 

Rice was first planted in the area in the early 1680s. The exact origins of 
rice as a Carolina cash crop are disputable, with one story of its introduction 
being that Dr. Henry Woodward planted seeds he received from a captain 
of a ship who brought them from Madagascar. The uncomfortably humid 
Carolina low country, with its tidal waters, proved to be an excellent place to 
grow rice, and later another cash crop, indigo. What is not disputed is that 
the slave trade in Carolina expanded rapidly as a result of the introduction 
of rice. Rice production was labor intensive. Slaves were needed to 
transform the coastal wetlands into rice fields by clearing out the native 
vegetation, building irrigation systems, forming the fields which must be 
banked to hold in the water, and tending to the crop throughout the long, 
hot summer. The importance of rice therefore increased the demand for 
slaves from rice growing regions of West Africa. The more rice was grown, 
the more slaves were needed; consequently, Charleston became a major 

Page | 204 Page | 204 





Page | 206 

Chapter five: English Colonization After 1660

Page | 206 

 
 

  

 

faster. By 1695, the Proprietors were accepting rice as rent payments. 
Production continued to increase, reaching 20 million pounds by 1720. 

Along with rice came indigo, a plant that produces a blue dye used in 
fabrics. Indigo and rice work well together because they can be raised in the 
same area and have different growing seasons. Slaves would raise the indigo 
in the spring, harvesting it in time to plant rice for the summer, which would 
be harvested in the fall. Indigo production began in Carolina with Eliza 
Lucas, a rather remarkable young lady who in 1738 at the age of sixteen was 
managing her family’s plantation. Her father sent her some indigo seeds 
from the West Indies. Within three years she had her first success in raising 
the indigo and extracting the blue dye, which was then formed into cakes. 
By 1748 South Carolina was exporting over 130,000 pounds of indigo to 
England. 

5.3.5 The Arrival of the Huguenots 

French Huguenots, or Protestants from France, began arriving in 1685, 
driven from their home country by religious persecution and drawn to 
Charleston by the promise of religious toleration. The Huguenots were born 
during the Protestant Reformation, persecuted early on, and then involved 
in a long religious war in France. The Huguenots rejected Catholicism, the 
mainstream religion of France, in favor of a Calvinist variety of Protestantism. 
John Calvin, himself a Frenchman living in Switzerland, had developed 
his own protestant theology separate from Luther and from the Anglican 
Church of England. Their religious war in France ended in 1598 when the 
French King Henry IV signed the Edict of Nantes, granting the Huguenots 
the right to practice their religion within certain guidelines and only in 
specified areas. In 1685, Louis XIV revoked the Edict and persecution of 
the Huguenots began again. Some stayed hoping for a change in France 
while others fled to more Protestant-friendly countries and colonies such 
as Carolina. Many of the Huguenots were artisans, not aristocrats, and 
so brought much-needed skills to the young colony. By 1704, the French 
Huguenots established the town of Bath, the first town in what would 
become North Carolina. 

5.3.6 Carolina Splits into Two Royal Colonies 

The southern part of Carolina continued to develop more rapidly as a center 
of agriculture and trade with the colony centered on Charleston, despite its 
vulnerability to sea attacks and threats by Indians and the Spanish. In 1718, 
the pirate Blackbeard blockaded Charleston’s harbor, demanding medical 
supplies. Unhappy with the continuing dangers and generally dissatisfied 
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Figure 5.3 Historical Map of the Middle Colonies | This map dating from 1756 depicts the middle
colonies of Pennsylvania, Delaware, New Jersey, and New York. 

Author: Tobias Conrad Lotter 
Source: Wikimedia Commons 

5.4.4 life in the Middle Colonies 

During the late seventeenth century and into the eighteenth century, 
the middle colonies outpaced their northern and southern neighbors in 
population and economic growth. Moreover, the region had higher levels 
of ethnic and religious diversity. New York, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania 
were the most heterogeneous of the North American colonies. This diversity 
stemmed partly from the patterns of settlement under Dutch rule, partly 
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